

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

3-11-2024

Black Social Workers Use of Racial Identity and Self Concept in the Workplace

Shielah Monique DeBlanc Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Developmental Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Shielah M. DeBlanc

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Ethel Perry, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty

Dr. Nina Nabors, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

Black Social Workers Use of Racial Identity and Self Concept in the Workplace

by

Shielah M. DeBlanc

MS, California University of Pennsylvania, 2015

BS, California University of Pennsylvania, 2013

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Developmental Psychology

Walden University

May 2024

Abstract

Navigating the Black professional identity in U.S. work environments poses challenges for social workers, with limited research addressing racial salience, power dynamics, and self-concept within their specific workplace contexts. Using self-concept theory, and the multidimensional model of racial identity as theoretical and conceptual frameworks, the purpose of this research was to examine Black social workers' attitudes about selfconcept using racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure as predictors. Using web-based surveys to collect data, a purposive sample of 77 participants were used to complete demographic information, a measure of centrality to gauge racial salience Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, a measure of self-concept using the Self-Concept Questionnaire, a measure of power dynamics using the Power Distance Index subscale of the Cultural Values Scale, and a measure of tenure (length of time in current role). The research questions included (a) to what degree racial saliency predicted Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace, (b) to what degree perceived power differences predicted Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace, and (c) to what degree employee tenure predicted Black social workers' self-concept in the workplace. Using multiple regression analysis, results suggested that racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure were not significant predictors of Black social worker's self-concept in the workplace. The non-significance implies positive social change through a need for further exploration and reevaluation of the research design and variables. Specifically, how variables may intersect, as well as the potential for mixed-methods research in the future.

Black Social Workers Use of Racial Identity and Self Concept in the Workplace

by

Shieláh DeBlanc

MA, California University of Pennsylvania, 2015

BS, California University of Pennsylvania, 2013

Dissertation Submitted in Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Developmental Psychology

Walden University

May 2024

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation, above all, to God, who has kept me close to him on the days where there was no end in sight. To my beloved mom, Lisa, whose boundless support and love anchored me, and to my siblings, Nakia and Kris, whose unwavering encouragement kept me grounded at every turn. I'm honored to be the first to bring our family to this level of learning. My gratitude extends to all those who contributed with kind words, valuable advice, and heartfelt prayers throughout this journey. Lastly, to my daughter Heaven, I dedicate this work to you with profound love and pride in my heart. May it serve as a reminder that you, my dear, are unstoppable!

Acknowledgments

I want to gratefully acknowledge Dr. Perry, whose tireless efforts and unwavering encouragement have been instrumental throughout this entire academic journey. I will forever be appreciative of challenges and opportunities for growth that working with you has afforded me. I will never forget the wisdom and support you provided that has helped me to achieve at such a high level. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Nabors, whose commitment to providing clarity and thorough reviews played a crucial role in my progress. I recognize that reaching this point would not have been possible without the invaluable guidance and support from both of you, and for that, I am forever indebted. From the bottom of my heart, thank you!

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Ch	napter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	4
	Problem Statement	6
	Purpose of the Study	7
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	7
	Theoretical Foundation	8
	Conceptual Framework	9
	Nature of the Study	10
	Definitions	11
	Assumptions	13
	Scope and Delimitations	14
	Limitations	14
	Significance	15
	Summary	17
Ch	apter 2: Literature Review19	
	Literature Search Strategy	20
	Theoretical Foundation: Self-Concept Theory	21
	Conceptual Framework: Sellers's Model of Racial Identity	22
	Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	25
	Cultural Influence on Identity.	25

	Culture	25
	Racial Identity	26
	Intersectionality	28
	Racial Discrimination.	29
	Self-Concept and Self Perception	30
	Identity Knowledge	32
	Shift in Code or Behavior.	33
	Behavioral Influences and Identity Development	34
	Socialization and Behavior	39
	Identity Threat to Self	40
	Workplace Environment	42
	Race and the Workplace Environment	43
	Role Relationships	44
	Power Distance	46
Su	mmary and Conclusions	47
Chapte	er 3: Research Method	49
Re	search Design and Rationale	49
Me	ethodology	50
	Population	50
	Sampling and Sampling Procedures	50
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	51
	Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	52

Data Analysis Plan	55
Research Questions and Hypothesis	55
Threats to Validity	57
Ethical Procedures	57
Summary	58
Chapter 4: Results	59
Data Collection	59
Demographic Characteristics of the Sample	61
Results	68
Multiple Regression Analysis	68
Summary	72
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	73
Interpretation of the Findings	73
Limitations of the Study	76
Recommendations	78
Implications	80
Conclusion	81
References	82

List of Tables

Table 1 In What State or U.S. Territory Do You Live?62
Table 2 What is the Highest Level of Education You Have Completed?62
Table 3 About How Many Years Have You Been in Your Current Position?63
Table 4 Which of the Following Best Describes Your Current Job Level?63
Table 5 Group Statistics (Self-Esteem Scale)
Table 6 Independent Samples Test (Self-Esteem Scale)
Table 7 Group Statistics (Power Distance Index)65
Table 8 Independent Samples Test (Power Distance Index)
Table 9 Group Statistics (Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity)66
Table 10 Independent Samples Test (Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity)66
Table 11 Group Statistics (Years in Current Position)67
Table 12 Independent Samples Test (Years in Current Position)
Table 13 Model Summary68
Table 14 Analysis of Variance69
Table 15 Coefficients

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Professionalism within the social work field requires a level of self-awareness and sensitivity to interface with a diverse population of individuals whom to some degrees have been identified as needing services. According to Willmott and Rundle-Thiele (2021), human behavior becomes fluent at the onset of individual interpretation, application, and reporting of theory use. In sum, to gain the self-awareness and sensitivity needed to navigate the field, there is an impending demand to first recognize the complexity and variety of systems absorbed by the individual providing said service. Within these systems are means to delivery methods that prompt varying intervention to influence multiple behaviors under various social and physical conditions (Willmott & Rundle-Thiele, 2021). Social work professionals need to navigate these conditions by developing a soundness in the way information is understood and therefore applied. Daddow (2017) situated her research in this space using code, literacy, and life worlds as context for introducing pedagogy as a way to landscape classroom learning and therefore application of experience and history into what will become social work application beyond the classroom. Specifically, cultural ways of being, which include language, behavior, and experience, are said to be closely aligned with curriculum knowledge and are juxtaposed in a way that creates challenge in lifeworld application (Daddow, 2017). This further illustrates the differences in the absorption of information and cultural influence that will eventually drive the services provided by social services professionals, which is facilitated through workplace interactions. The understanding of assimilation, political correctness, and the overall awareness of embedded majority group power

dynamics highlight unevenness that can cause identity conflict if intersectionality and identity are not recognized and incorporated into research conversations (Azzopardi, 2020). Thus, it is important to study the relationship between racial identity and self-concept—specifically African American racial identity and self-concept behavior to understand professional impact.

Recognizing that the workplace is a breeding ground for inequality despite diversity and inclusion efforts, it is critical to highlight the discriminatory nature of social service workplaces. Specifically with the Black professional, their identities become marginalized and as a result are mediated through the suppression and dilution (i.e., watering down) of such identity to conform to the majority norms in the workspace (Dickens et al., 2019; Santiago et al., 2021). Several studies consider the grand challenges of social work, namely such challenges as "eradicate social isolation," "achieve equal opportunity and justice," and "eliminate racism;" however, many of the studies fail to explicitly describe how the concept of race and racism would work to eliminate race issues. For example, Rao et al. (2021) listed race and racism as major components of analytic research but failed to provide detailed analysis of how the use of race and ethnicity inclusion can be influential to combating racial issues. Both concepts are equally important but are not conceptualized at the same frequency. My study adds to the overall research by providing understanding of racial salience or the degree to which an individual considers race to be relevant to self-concept situationally (Sellers et al., 1998). While there is detailed information on identity in both academia and the workplace (Azzopardi, 2020; Bubar et al., 2016; Dodd and Tolman, 2017), there is still a need to

understand how race plays a role in response to social work situations outside of lived experiences in the workplace. My research bridges this gap from a lens of self-concept, which is used to describe an individual's definition of self at the personal, relational, and collective level which is influenced by individual and cultural differences resulting in varied salience among individuals.

My work made the argument that Black professionals in social service fields possess a multiplicity of identities by nature of their life and work. They are responsible for the identity maintenance required for survival in the U.S. professional world, as well as the necessary upkeep of their professional standards of practices. In this study, I considered how salient or prominent an individual's racial identity, specifically the Black identity, is within a workplace setting using self-concept as a springboard to examine the racial identity.

Chapter 1 previews the components of the study such as background, problem statement, purpose of the study, and research questions. In the Background section, I summarize prior literature relative to the topic as well as identify the gap in that literature. I then transition into the Problem Statement section, where I explain the rationale for the study through literature and current research findings. Then in the Purpose of the Study section, I identify the variables and the type of study to be conducted. Finally, within the Research Questions and Hypotheses section, I outline what questions I answered with my research. An extensive review of the literature that supports these components is detailed thereafter in Chapter 2.

Background

Research on racial identity development has long been studied in Black individuals. Namely research regarding group behavior and how understanding ideals, beliefs, and values can aid in understanding vantage point during interaction. For example, Davis (2018) described the connection between power and discourse using Black women as a focal point. The researcher submitted that discursive power lies with the dominant group and thus controls the narrative to public discourses. Relative to Black women is the theoretical notion that once this group began to understand how knowledge is produced and influenced, a standpoint emerged that allowed discourse, specifically communication discourses that resist power dynamics that work against their identity (Davis, 2018). Although many researchers have studied how race contributes to institutions and agencies, much work needs to be done to examine real-world application in the spaces that house those professional individuals who are thought to be among the most diverse given the nature of the services they provide. For example, Gist-Mackey (2017) conducted a study that examined communication in the context of unemployment support and training. The findings revealed that the communication training implemented in two separate programs only caters to communication standards of middle-class individuals, which again speaks to power dynamics that shun individuals from a lower socioeconomic class.

Evident in research is the fact that White individuals who are shielded from accurate information about African American experience can potentially reject the White-privilege America argument, which negates the ongoing oppression and unequal

treatment that occurs (Sisco, 2020). Examining factors that contribute to self-concept and racial identity saliency in the workplace (i.e., power dynamics) is critical as it is through one's interactions, both abstract and concrete, where conflict (or in the context of my study, variance in situational responses) can occur (Perkins et al., 2019). Sisco (2020) described the habit of in-group (non-minority) co-workers to disregard the experiences of Black people, but at the same time be intrigued by the sentiments of individuals who encounter struggle. Examining Black individuals on the receiving end of that type of experience is critical to closing the gap in which it is situated.

Understanding the influences on an individual's identity that contribute to interaction and thus self-concept is critical to lessen miscommunication, identity suppression, and other discrepancies in service delivery. For example, Jackson (2018) explained in his research the idea of a professional pose or a "professional style and behavior meant to navigate professional settings" with collegiate Black men who were expected to present as professionals. Jackson's findings revealed that in order to cultivate a professional pose, an individual must outwardly project behaviors that are in alignment with middle-class behaviors in White-dominated professional settings. At the apex of many identity concepts are the sentiments of William Edward Du Bois, better known as W.E.B. Du Bois, who proposed the idea of double consciousness which in sum describes the notion of an individual having two selves congruent with more than one identity as being first African and then American (Lento, 2021). Little research focuses attention on racial identity crisis and how self-concept can influence the presence, use, and salience of

identities in the professional setting and how this can impact length of time in the field thus derived premise for this study.

Problem Statement

In the field of social work, there is a universal understanding that the professionals within provide quality services to a diverse population in response to situations that may arise. Research that highlights the color divide in professional institutions is necessary, especially studies that examine the threat to an individual's identity that is often nuanced by written and spoken language, compliance trainings, as well as supervisor-subordinate interactions. Racial membership has long acted as an anchor for African Americans to stabilize their identities in White-dominated spaces such as the workplace (Gist-Mackey, 2017; Stanford, 2021; Villotti et al., 2019). Specifically, the absorption of racial cues during interactions can alert an individual to race-related events that influence responses to a situation (Hoggard et al., 2016). For example, Emerson and Murphy (2014) provided situational cues in the context of workplace settings that would alert an individual to potential identity threat or conflict. This includes cues that signal representation, cues that make identity and stereotypes salient, cues in diversity training programs, cues in physical environment, and positive stereotypes in the workplace (Emerson & Murphy, 2014). Sisco (2020) found in her work that various themes emerge when there is a level of incivility in the workplace in corporate America which included: safeguarding personal narrative, safeguarding Blackness, microtargeting opportunities, and micromanaging expectations. Whether themes or cues, what became evident from the research is the need to study how self-concept surrounding racial

salience and power difference is germane to an individual's identity development and longevity in a particular position.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine how self-concept is related to racial saliency and perceived power dynamics (power distance) in the workplace. The intent of the study was to add to the knowledge of the social work field in the journey to diversity and inclusion by examining the relationship between racial saliency, perceived power difference (also referred to as power distance), employee tenure, and self-concept in a professional setting with a specific focus on Black social work professionals.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: To what degree does racial saliency predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?

 H_{01} : Racial saliency as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale in the workplace.

 $H_{\rm al}$: Racial salience as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale in the workplace.

RQ2: To what degree does perceive power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?

 H_{02} : Perceived power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept.

 H_{a2} : Perceived power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

RQ3: To what degree does Black social workers' employee tenure predict attitudes about self-concept?

 H_{03} : Employee tenure as measured by length of stay in current role does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

 H_{a3} : Employee tenure as measured by length of stay in current role will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

Theoretical Foundation

Carl Rogers's self-concept theory encompasses the idea of becoming or being. By recognizing the idea of becoming as self-actualization, an individual's self becomes the focal point of the experience (Yazdani & Ross, 2019). According to Sebastian et al. (2008), during the convergence of one's own mental state and that of others, emerges the maturation process of the individual self. Researchers have explained that during this time in a child's development, the two main indicators of self are direct appraisals which derive from our own experiences and reflected appraisals which originate from other's perspectives (Sabastian et al., 2008). Self can be viewed from many different perspectives, which can include concepts such as self-consciousness or body image

(Keromnes et al., 2019), as well as physical self or perception of motor competence in adolescence (Dreiskämper et al., 2022); however, for the purpose of this study, I used self-concept in proximity to adolescent development through to adulthood in the workplace (i.e., esteem, confidence, etc.). The self-concept theory is mainly rooted in social and humanistic psychology; however, developmental stages can influence tasks associated with the self-phenomena. According to Rogers (1959) self-concept is comprised of three parts: (a) self-image, (b) self-worth, and (c) the ideal self. Nestled in the theory is the notion that the self is made up of conscious experiences that create self-concept, which can be understood as the integration of experience into organizing units known as self-schemas (Rogers, 1959).

Conceptual Framework

The multidimensional model of racial identity is a fusion of both mainstream and underground approaches to racial identity. Sellers et al. (1998) submitted that the underground approach (qualitative meanings of identity influenced by experience and culture) as well as the mainstream approach (contextual understanding of racial identity in proximity to other identities) are complimentary and under this model should be synthesized. This is measured across four dimensions: racial salience or the extent to which race is relevant to one's self concept under situational context, racial centrality or the extent to which an individual defines their race as a part of their whole identity over time, racial regard or the degree to which an individual has positive feelings about their race, and lastly racial ideology which are the thoughts, views and opinions of how Black individuals should act (Sellers et al., 1998). Each of these dimensions, along with the

rationale for a race salience focus, are detailed in Chapter 2 along with additional review of discourse analysis.

Nature of the Study

There exists a multitude of prior research methodologies and measurement tools to lay foundation. The quantitative researcher works to eliminate subjectivity by operating from standardized methods to cultivate and examine variable relationships that create specific effects (Lazaraton, 2002); therefore, I maintained the use of standardized tools consistently throughout the research. In my study, I utilized quantitative correlational research design to examine the relationship between Black social work professionals' self-concept and racial saliency. In addition, I used quantitative correlational research design to examine the relationship between Black social work professionals' self-concept and perceived power difference. Lastly, I examined the relationship between self-concept and employee tenure, thus connecting racial saliency, perceived power difference, and employee tenure as independent and dependent variables. I used web-based surveys to gather basic demographic information in the study as well. Participants were asked to respond to the questionnaires that were associated with each variable. Questions were comprised of the centrality subscale of the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity to measure racial saliency, the Rosenburg Self-Esteem Scale to measure self-concept, and the Power Distance Index Subscale of Cultural Values Scale to measure perceived power difference in the given situation. This information was then used to examine the correlation between variables of racial

saliency, perceived power difference, and self-concept, as well as employee tenure using a single-item question to measure employee tenure at the participant's current job.

Data were collected using web-based surveys. Inferential statistics, specifically regression, was then utilized to study whether there is a relationship between variables and the strength of that relationship. According to Scalcau (2021), the results of quantitative research can be used to make generalizations because it seeks to examine a sample of common features of groups of people as opposed to the individual lived experience thus, my study made generalizations about racial identity in Black social work professionals through the use of the aforementioned quantitative methods.

Definitions

Self-concept: Self as a concept has been very loosely defined to include multiple identities and definitions per the individual in their environment (Liechty, 2018) but namely as a concept that includes all experiences an individual brings to awareness that then become a part of their self-definition (McMillan, 2004). According to Rogers (1959),

The self-structure is an organized configuration of perceptions of the self. ...It is composed of such elements as the perceptions of one's characteristics and abilities; the percepts and concepts of the self in relation to others and to the environment; the value qualities which are perceived as associated with experiences and objects; and the goals and ideals which are perceived as having positive or negative valence. (p. 501)

Power distance: Power distance refers to individual satisfaction of exerting power which leads to either an upward or downward tendency (Bruins & Wilke, 1993). Within an organizational context, power distance is best defined as the degree to which the less powerful individuals expect and accept a hierarchal power distribution that is unequal (Gerlach & Eriksson, 2021). Part of the cultural values dimensions proposed by Geert Hofstede (1980), power distance is thought to be a framework for examining values in the workplace specifically the unequal power from a cross-cultural perspective.

Researchers furthered this work by addressing cultural values from an individual perspective to connect the attitudes and behaviors of an individual to cultural orientations at an individual level (Yoo et al., 2011) This can then be generalized to individuals within an organization as opposed to macro-level cross-cultural organization comparisons.

Intersectionality: An overlap or junction at which multiple identities are interconnected and inform experiences and instances of disadvantage. Crenshaw (1989) explained in her research that intersectionality is critical in understanding instances of discrimination and power dynamics that marginalize "otherwise privileged" members of a group. Her research highlights the need to reject movement along a single categorical axis, implying that there is a multiplicity of identities that can present and be influenced by experiences and to continue along said axis, would be to minimize the complexity of identities affected within the situational context (Crenshaw, 1989). According to Harris and Kruger (2021), intersectionality is compounded points of oppression that operate as a unit as opposed to autonomous occurrences of experience. There exist other definitions of intersectionality that make an argument outside of Black feminism and moves towards an

all-inclusive definition of intersectionality (Carastathis, 2016); however, to ensure alignment, I used the definition above as it gives foundational context to intersectionality with specificity to the race issues and discrimination discussed in this study.

Role relationships: A role relationship in the context organization refers to the way "institutional roles and authority reside in the mode of presentation at the linguistic/interactional level" (Halvorsen, & Srikant, 2015, p. 3). There is a sense of reciprocity in the power dynamic that is structured by interaction. Consistent with this definition is the idea that individuals project outward the internal identity structures that will help the receiver perceive that individual as a unique role player (Carter & Bruene, 2019).

Employee tenure: A measure that refers to the length of time with an employer at the time of survey (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022). This measure can apply to long- or short-term employees.

Assumptions

As the researcher, I made necessary assumptions generalizable to common knowledge. These assumptions included that the participants answered the questions to the surveys with fidelity, honesty, and without fear of pressure or repercussion from individual, agency, or institution resulting from disclosure. There were varying levels of education achievement among the target population, meaning skill levels varied; thus, the social work professionals may or may not have felt obligated to give the perceived correct answer based on skill set. Additionally, participants may have been influenced by other parts of their culture and identity, which for the purpose of this study they were

asked specifically about racial and professional identities. Due to the nature of the study, it was difficult to acquire participants, so various participant pools were explored.

Scope and Delimitations

The basic intent of the study was to examine the association between racial saliency, power difference, and employee tenure relative to overall self-concept. It was my general intent to examine the Black professional experience of social workers to further diversity and inclusion efforts in social work. I planned to use surveys and scales that have already been tested for validity to collect data. The study's participants were individuals within the field who identify as Black. Individuals who have not completed a 4-year degree in social work were excluded from this study. This was determined by developmental and academic grouping specifically as it pertains to practicing social work in a professional setting. Generalizability was increased given academic requirements of the participants as well as population demographics I used for participant recruitment.

Limitations

There were many possible points of limitation to the methodology and design of my research. This was a correlational study, meaning I did not study the causal relationships of the variables but instead whether a statistical relationship existed.

Additionally, concepts such as power difference and self-concept have largely been studied from both a qualitative and quantitative perspective; thus for my study, a threat to internal validity may have been the language used in both the research questions and in the surveys that were used. According to Lazaraton (2002), using "to what extent" makes distinguishable quantitative from qualitative methodology in that researchers are able to

determine statistical meaning derived from qualitative characteristics of data. Another limitation was to external validity: participants were required to identify as a certain race and all participants had to have work experience in the social service field. To minimize bias and to address limitations, I considered the fact that as a Black woman scholar, there were certain aspects of this study that were relatable to my experiences and identity, which may have interfered with the way I interpreted, structured, and analyzed the study and its data. Thus, I used use web-based methods to collect data, so there was no direct contact or interface with the participants.

Significance

Much research exists that emphasizes the criticality of diversity and inclusion efforts in social services as cultural similarities and differences of both the clientele and the staff are crucial to the success of services (Cano, 2020). Studies have shown that an individual's professional identity is predicated on versions of "self" inclusive of past, present, and future identities that help to formulate who they should be on their career path (Bentley et al., 2019). Versions of self would imply the presence of other social identities that make up "self" in addition to those characteristics that can be attributed to the identity displayed in the workplace. Parallel to and more frequently intersecting this process of identity construction is racial identity, which in the workplace is operationalized through racial discrimination and power dynamics. The presentation of these identities is situation based and can surface interchangeably or dichotomously intersect given the social cues present during interaction. The degree to which personal self and racial self are influenced and how it co-exists with power difference and

employee tenure in Black social service professionals have been left unaddressed in the research community. Focus on these aspects is critical as racial identity expression and suppression in the workplace are germane to strengthening services for clientele as well as interactions, policy, and process between staff.

Self-concept theory and the multidimensional model of racial identity are both theories that can inform the pivotal points above. It is important when examining identity beyond just language, to also incorporate what can be described as "the other stuff" in order to understand the significance of social and historical context that contribute to the individual and their identity (Gee, 2015). The multidimensional model of racial identity upholds the notion that a construct (in this case identity) that is most accessible to an individual in various situational instances has high probable use when judgement and expression of behavior is necessary during situational interactions (Sellers et al., 1998). For example, Whitaker (2019) used Black-sounding first names as example to explain that because Black names historically have disadvantages attached to situations associated with professional, academic, and social interactions, individuals will consider using a pseudonym during the interview process to remove bias behavior they may experience, thus suppressing their racial identity in order to be considered for job opportunities. Additionally, intersectionality becomes usable to the point where multiple identities intersect and discrimination, primarily in policy, can be experienced through more than one identity simultaneously (Crenshaw, 1989). These examples were significant because they provided a new way to examine the degree to which these modes of interaction are experienced by Black individuals, which can further research in the

topic area beginning with policy reformation that peaks on important points in diversity and inclusion efforts in institutions and organizations. This research was relevant to social change because it gave Black social service professionals the opportunity to provide perspective into racial identity saliency and its connection to the services they are expected to provide.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I described the background and problem statement, which highlighted the premise for my study topic. Specifically, a focus on African American social services professionals and racial identity salience within the workplace, which was to be centered around self-concept. Also included in this chapter were research-based definitions that support the terms to be used within the contents of all study chapters which were included for the readers convenience and ease of understanding. Other important areas highlighted in Chapter 1 included the purpose of the study, research questions, theoretical and conceptual foundation, nature of the study, assumptions, scope and delimitations, and limitations of the research study.

Critical to examining this research was the study of race, self-concept, and power difference constructs necessary to understand the ebb and flow of identity saliency amongst Black social workers. Biologically, barring significant disruption in development, humans develop the ability to distance themselves from their own experience to allow themselves to take on another person's perspective. This process helps individuals to develop meaning by discerning how one person's words, grammar, and behavior differ from another to communicate a perspective on an experience. In sum,

literacy is the ability to comprehend and communicate; and neither comprehension nor communication can occur without action and contextualized perspective. The literature supports this concept as Gee (2015) extended these basic principles of literacy to social interaction. He submitted that by conceptualizing social languages in communicative performances through language, symbols, or actions are relative to social activity, value-based perspective, and situated social identities of groups. Gee (2012) also explained that one can reasonably say they know a given social language if they can "do" the particular language or recognize it when one is not or cannot "do" the language.

The literature supported the need to apply this concept to racial identity and saliency in that the stable elements of the collective identity are also influenced over time based on encounters with spaces and people. Individuals hold multiple identities that are ordered in value and interplay or inform each other producing the self-concept.

Perception of racial identity is the most valid indicator of identity and overt behavior should ideally match self-reported and group reported perceptions of racial identity. This study addressed these areas by recognizing the potential influence of all existing theories on racial identity within the workplace and the discourse that surrounds it. The findings of this study provided necessary insight in advancing each topic area and the obvious overlap. More in-depth review and analysis of the literature is in Chapter 2. In this chapter, concepts such as self-concept, racial discrimination, and power distance were detailed to further support the premise for the study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

There has been much research on how racial identity influences the perception and processing of social interactions. There exists an underlying cultural implication to the way individuals make meaning of a situation which is influenced by the degree to which an individual holds their racial identity salient (Sellers et al., 1998). Specifically for Black individuals, qualitative works detail the experiences of racial instances that have called for a watered-down version of their Blackness out of fear of racial discrimination, tokenism, and stereotypes (Santiago et al., 2021). The current racial climate of the United States supports their claims as there has been a resounding outpour of Black pride whereby individuals have embraced solidarity through racial injustice protest, rejection of societal beauty standards through hair expression, as well as confrontation of microaggressions in various environments. This outward expression of racial identity for some mutes other identities (e.g., professional, spiritual/religious) that would otherwise be dominant in traditionally White-dominated spaces such as institutions, schools, and court rooms.

Gee (2017) contended that this type of identity performance can create discourse in which behavior, actions, language, and beliefs are expressed. Research has revealed that many Black Americans experience confrontation in the workplace, where actions, tone, and intention are often misinterpreted at professional institutions that are predominantly White. Halverson and Sarangi (2015) submitted that these interpretations are often characterized by the role in which an individual is associated, specifically in the field of social services. Many other articles detail workplace culture relative to the

display of identity that is deemed acceptable therein (Brewster et al., 2014; Halverson et al. 2015; Vilotti et al., 2019). Thus, this study focused specifically on the workplace environment, targeting Black social work professionals.

Through literature review, recurring themes relative to self-concept, racial identity development, and racial saliency became evident. Derived from these themes is the need to examine the Black professional through an understanding of identity in the workplace environment and how this impacts self-concept. Chapter 2 will contribute to the overview of these topics parsed out in a way that outlines developmental components of Black racial identity. To maximize understanding and display an exhaustive review of literature, this chapter will include peer-reviewed publications, research strategies, theoretical foundations, and conclusions about the anticipated quantitative study that adds to the research topic.

Literature Search Strategy

When conducting research on literature germane to the topic, I reduced my research window to include recent publications within the last 5 years and seminal works of those researchers who were instrumental to the contribution of this topic area.

Databases used to collect information include ProQuest, PsycBOOKs, PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, Google Scholar, SagePub, Psychology, ERIC, PubMed and Education Source. Key search terms used in the literature review included the following: black professionals, identity development, discourse, ethnic-racial socialization, racial identity, socio-demographic factors, symbolic interactionism, social literacy, appraisal cognitive development, social literacy, identity threat, racial discrimination, micro-aggression,

language, behavior switch, culture, young people, race, racism, social class, mobility, marginalization, identity, ethnography, emotion and affect, racial bias, experiences of racism, African Americans and discrimination, burden of racial discrimination, racism and health, self-perception, self-concept, self-worth, culture, African American, Black men, Black women, social identity, self-identity, norms/social roles, performing the self, performativity, feminist theory, psychology of women, identification, job performance, intersectionality, black feminism, performance-based identity, self-definition, workrelated identity, ethnicity, classification, racial identification, social influences, racist language, workplace environment, discourse role, activity role, workplace discourse, decision making, activity analysis, corporate America, career development, coping strategies, resilience, intersectionality, multiple identities, social service, social work, social workers, Black social workers, power distance, cultural values, and employee tenure. Various permutations of the keywords were used in different databases to search for information. Searches were narrowed and filtered using features of EBSCOhost and Google Scholar, which allowed the space for more updated and relevant literature built upon foundational works that were outdated. Literature directly related to the topic as well as literature that may be neighboring to the topic was reviewed and was balanced between qualitative and quantitative publications.

Theoretical Foundation: Self-Concept Theory

Self-concept, proposed by Carl Rogers through his work on personality, is largely contingent on an individual's need to self-actualize (Rogers, 1959). Rogers posited that the idea of "self" is central to the nature of the oneself and the conditions of natural

development (Yazdani & Ross, 2019). Self-concept is typically equated to a person's perception and evaluation of who they are, what they offer, and how this information is perceived by others (Yazdani & Ross, 2019; Esnaola et al., 2020). Rogers's theory of self-concept is one that is present throughout adolescence and is typically fluid across the lifespan (Yazdani & Ross, 2019). Research shows that self-concept is critical to the Black identity in the context of thinking, being, and doing. A variety of literature describes, however, that Black identity is not always salient to the performer that of which can be influenced by identity classification, as well as experiences with race. In fact, consistent with Sellers's multidimensional model of racial identity, saliency is directly impacted by one's ability to recognize and respond to their environment at present (Sellers, 2016), which is an expansion of Rogers's basic views about awareness and the threshold in which individuals freely admit, deny, or distort to their real selves and their ideal selves (Rogers, 1959). However, it is the position of my proposal that the ability to recognize these cues is directly related to the saliency and self-concept. Also consistent is Crenshaw's concept of intersectionality, which is nuanced in identity saliency in that intersecting identities exist in a given space, thus a given situation where the marginalized identities present simultaneously (e.g., workplace; Crenshaw, 1989). Therefore, one should be able to examine salience, and thus behavior, by ascertaining which and to what degree recognizable identity cues are read and surface.

Conceptual Framework: Sellers's Model of Racial Identity

The overarching basis for this study from a developmental perspective is racial identity development of African American individuals. Examining how race adds an

extra layer to discourse performance is critical in understanding the use of identities when responding to various situations. According to White-Johnson et al. (2010), early socialization of adolescents involves various settings of influence in which a child is exposed. This includes school, family, and extra-curricular activities in which a child is socialized to the norms of the environment. White-Johnson et al. submitted that of these influential factors, parental roles are most important as they are charged with managing various aspects of identity including puberty and peer relationships; however, for the African American parent, another contentious point of socialization must be considered—race. When addressing various aspects of identity development, African American individuals must consider their membership to the minority group and how exists in the world is the functional rejection of Blackness (Nelbitt et al., 2008, Willis, 2020).

With racial identity as an extension of identity development (Hoggard et al., 2015), a notable facet of how to quantify the navigation of environments through the lens of identity would first be through mention of qualitative ideals of the underground approach. W.E.B Du Bois was a seminal author in the field of Black identity development during the creation of this approach. During this time, he put words to the experience of Black people in America who inevitably come to a state of double consciousness due to the prejudiced, racist, view of Blackness perpetuated by society and the view of Blackness they develop for themselves (Lento, 2021). While many authors in the field of Black identity development may disagree on the process (Allen, 2003; Fertik & Hanses, 2019; Gooding-Williams, 2009) and the outcome of Black racial identity

development, a majority would agree that it is formed, facilitated, and shaped by discrimination and oppression (Hoggard et al., 2016; Nelbitt, 2004; Sellers & Shelton, 2003). Writers from the underground approach contend that racism is not the only factor that influences racial identity development. They also assert that culture, both the remaining shared values and beliefs that were saved through chattel slavery and those learned in the New World (United States of America). Thus, becomes important the work of Sellers et al. (1998), who created the multidimensional model of racial identity to capture both of those elements in ways that prior theorists were unable. Thus, for this study, I will use the multidimensional model of racial identity.

The multidimensional model of racial identity suggests that racial identity is composed of four dimensions that can be divided into two larger categories of significance and meaning. The dimensions that contribute to significance are salience and centrality. The second set of dimensions related to the meaning of being Black include regard and ideology. For this study racial salience and centrality will be used from the model. Sellers et al. (1998) defined racial salience as the extent to which one's race is a relevant part of one's self-concept at a particular point in time. This element is highly impacted by the context of the situation and one's likelihood or desire to define themselves racially. Racial salience is a mediating process between the stable characteristics of identity and behavior. Centrality on the other hand is defined by Sellers et al. (1998) as the extent to which a person defines themself by race normally. It differs from racial saliency in that it captures stable elements of one's own racial identity. Embedded in this component is also the hierarchical categorization of the multiple

identities that comprise the self. Racial centrality has been difficult to research empirically as it can be confounded with saliency.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts Cultural Influence on Identity

Culture can be used as an overarching term that includes human behavior, human philosophy, and habitual principles of living (Davis, 2020). According to Davis (2020), the cultural component of race (skin tone) has been used as a divisive measure in Black culture, which has caused cultural contamination through racially charged socialization practices. To understand Black culture, it is imperative to explore it by way of acculturalization into historically "superior" White America. The premise in which Black people acclimated to the Americas was created to systematically warp self-identity, which is still perpetuated in today's African American culture. Thus, it is critical to study race as a central construct to behavioral discourse.

Culture

Culture sets the premise of an individual's sense of self, others, and the relationship between the two (Markus & Kitayama, 2010; Oyserman & Markus, 2014). Research supports a positive relationship between Black cultural values and prosocial domains (Johnson & Carter, 2020), additionally low status racial identity also referred to as ethnic-racial identity has been linked to prosocial behaviors being nuanced in respectable citizenship. This refers to the presentation of intersecting identities that are deemed respectable in the context of the dominant cultures in society. Further research highlights the idea of out-group populations creating identity affirming spaces where

there is a sameness and bond formed from culture (Stafford et al., 2021; Grier & Ajayi, 2019). Relevant to Black culture is the idea of "identity affirmation space" or the space that houses the relationships that function as an extension of family through the identification of individuals who share commonalities as well as a shared sense of social and economic gain or opportunity (i.e., fictive kin; Stanford et al., 2022; Taylor et al., 2022). From the perspective of work and career dynamics this idea of forming an identity affirming space or a workplace culture in which Black professionals can work under the notion of shared culture can be examined from the lens of role-relationships, racial saliency, and self-concept.

Racial Identity

The idea of race has long been studied to cultivate an understanding of how it contributes to situations, interactions, and behaviors in various settings. In order to understand racial identity development, it must first be deconstructed into its simplest forms—race and identity. Marcia (1966) described identity through four statuses (i.e., diffusion, foreclosure, moratorium, and achievement) and suggested that adolescents can transition through these statuses through exploration and commitment with the possibility of membership to more than one status at a time. Using these identity statuses, Seaton et al. (2012) conducted a 3-year study of 566 African American participants that tracked progression, regression, and consistency through each status, finding that high racial socialization, namely parental messages about race, led to lower instances of identity foreclosure (low exploration, high commitment) and diffusion (low exploration, low commitment) as compared to an achieved identity (high exploration, high commitment).

In other words, children who are socialized to understand their race as a chief identity are more likely to have reached an achieved identity. Like Seaton, other researchers have used perceptions about racial discrimination, racial socialization, and racial identity development to examine how race influences self (Cross et al., 2017; Hoggard et al., 2019). Hoggard et al. (2015) inferred that the extent to which an individual defines themselves relative to race (racial centrality), feelings about group membership and being African American (private regard), and perception of how others view or feel about African Americans (public regard) are all indicators of approach and response to race-related events and situations. Specifically, high race centrality or subscription to race as a main identity can prompt depressive symptoms (concentration issues, poor decision making, anxiousness, etc.) in situational instances that are race heavy.

Research centered around Black racial identity speak to the "ah ha" moment that triggers social understanding of Blackness, described in the findings of Neville and Cross (2016), as a racial awakening that is composed of epiphanies and external events that speak to Blackness and the transformation of Black performance relative to behavior and increased knowledge within the new schema of group identity Blackness. This "racial awakening" is typically followed by racial activism, racial pride, and other unapologetic open displays of race appreciation. Schmader et al.'s (2017) research seems to be somewhat contrary following a study that measured perceived displays of pride categorized as either hubristic or authentic. Results show that Black individuals across unspecified, academic, and work-related settings are perceived as less hubristic (excessive) in their pride as opposed to their White counterparts; however, White

individuals are penalized more for their hubristic display of pride (Schmader et al., 2017). Critical to identity status, racial centrality and Black pride is the idea of the collective identity or the shared connectedness to a group. Within the African American race group, cultural values, beliefs, and principles have positive of psychological and prosocial implications, many of which perpetuate race-related coping necessary to make it through various race-related interactions with outgroup members (Johnson & Carter, 2020).

Intersectionality

Intersectionality is a term coined by Kimberlé Crenshaw to describe the demarginalization of experiences outlined by identity overlap (Bailey et al., 2019).

Crenshaw (1989) explained intersectionality from the perspective of Black women and how advocacy for the interests of Black women is seen by the majority as a threat to political normalcy. Crenshaw made an argument against single-axis identity labels, claiming that simultaneous existence of more than one marginalized identity can further create disparity and inequitable approach by the masses (Crenshaw, 1989).

The effects of discriminatory and lopsided power dynamics have long been documented throughout research. For example, many works detail how intersecting identities in the workplace create an environment that affects both behavior and response of those holding marginalized identities (Cech & Rothwell, 2020; Crawford, 2021; Hanlon & Taylor, 2022; Salter et al., 2021). Researchers have also increasingly seen the need to expand social work curriculum by integrating the concept intersectionality to illustrate power dynamics in the multiplicity of identities held by both social workers and clients (Alvarez et al., 2021; Edmonds-Cady & Wingfield, 2017; Simon et al., 2022).

Research on intersectionality submits that identities can be categorical in nature yet exist at the same time as non-independent experiences in a given setting. Rosette et al. (2018) used race and gender as two social categories that in the workplace intersect, thus giving the overlap a greater sum meaning than each category independently. For example, if an individual identifies as a Black scholar, then the sum of this identity, by definition of intersectionality, would be weighted more heavily than the identities of being Black and a scholar. Thus, the need to have an awareness of the presence of intersecting identities becomes important. The intersecting identity present in this research is the Black social worker.

Racial Discrimination

Race-related coping is a survival response to discriminatory practices (Johnson & Carter, 2020). Racial discrimination is situated within the larger system of racism which marks relational experiences with racial themes (Banks & Stephens, 2018). These relational experiences can occur in various environments where there is a potential for interpersonal, structural, and institutional racism (Banks & Stephens, 2018). Research shows that although not all African American individuals have the same experience with racial discrimination (Hoggard et al., 2017), personal experiences with racial discrimination and anticipated racial discrimination influences parents' socialization messages to children acting as a buffer to child exposure to racial discrimination (Holloway & Varner, 2021, White Johnson et al., 2010). Alio et al. (2020) described racial discrimination using an iceberg analogy, which likens the tip of the iceberg to overt discrimination and the ice below the surface as structural and institutional discrimination

that is indirect and embedded in process and policy. Their findings show that racial discrimination is still present in the United States but is coded in racially "progressive" statements similar to "I don't see color." This speaks to the research of Mouzon and McLean (2017), who found that consistent in the African American culture are patterns of internalized racism in which most African Americans do not have immunity against coded racial messages about their race group regardless of ethnicity (cultural identification). These covert messages, for example, can come in the form of social segregation in workplace environments where African Americans must reject the notion of internalized racism to protect themselves against perceptions about race as well as their Black professional identity (Sisco, 2020). Subtle discriminatory nuances against race impact self-perception and individual's beliefs about race categories.

Self-Concept and Self Perception

Specifically, in the child and adolescent stages of development, children internalize messages from both their environment as well as their parents and these perceived messages then influence how that individual will define their future and past selves. Self-concept represents the whole of an individual which includes the cognitive and emotional views of a being (Carter & Bruene, 2019). Dimensional in nature, self-concept usually includes self-perception, self-esteem, and self-worth all of which are situated in proximity to identity, experience, and environment. To study the multidimensional perspective of identity Wilson and Leaper (2016) utilized "Cameron's (2004) social identity scales (centrality, in-group affect, in-group ties) and Egan and Perry's (2001) gender identity scales (felt typicality, felt conformity pressure)" (p. 1621).

Paramount to the use of these identity scales was centrality or what the researchers describe as the "perceived importance of a particular social identity to one's self-concept" (p. 1621) this is how I will gauge racial salience with the social work workplace being the situational context.

Taking this a step further with a specific focus on self-perception, it is recognized as a term used to describe traits and characteristics that evaluate self-worth (Adams et al., 2020). These traits or descriptors are then used by the perceiver to generate an assumption of one's self-esteem using traits that are aligned with the perceiver's social schemas as a frame of reference (Beauregard & Dunning, 2001). Perception starts to develop in infancy and matures as a child progresses through the developmental stages by both internal and external motivators in which race categorically fits into both. Race is folded into self-perception as it contributes to how an individual feels about themselves, which in turn translates into beliefs about various traits including skin tone (shades of black and brown), and language (Atkinson, 2016; Adams, 2020).

Situated in societal standard exists a concept called White accusation. Fordham and Ogbu, (1986), conducted research outlining White accusation linking academic underachievement to African American's students' rejection of majority standard and fear of being associated with the state of being or acting White. A study conducted by Neal et al. (2010) found that adolescents put less bearing on White accusation in the context of academics than when the accusations are associated with social activities. The findings of both studies would suggest that perception of others relative to connectedness with salient group membership is heavily weighted against racial identity status. This is

also consistent with White-Johnson et al. (2010), Jones and Neblett (2017) on environmental and parental messages communicated about race. Specifically, how an individual perceives self in relation to their social environment as opposed to their academic environment differs based on saliency as nuanced by the perceiver. Exposure to these messages compiles what is known as identity knowledge.

Identity Knowledge

Research indicates that differences in exposure can account for variation in stored memories of an individual (Stanley et al., 2021). Identity knowledge for the purpose of this study will be described similarly to Illievski et al. (2020)'s work on knowledge and identity of long tail entities which describes identity knowledge as total recall and recognition of stored information that is accessible to the learner for long-term use. Research has found that when accessing identity knowledge, the context of language becomes critical to the interaction. Marian and Neisser (2000) found in their study that if the linguistic context of an experience is the same from initial retrieval to encoding, then ease of access to identity knowledge should be more prominent than if the context is different. A notable mention from this study is also the presence of linguistic behavior associated with the identity knowledge retrieved. This is consistent with more updated research from Bentley et al. (2019) who found that individual success in the workplace and professional identity is related to accessible identity knowledge as evidenced by same context implications of the study.

Shift in Code or Behavior

Most work done in code-switching has been with participants who are Bi-lingual and early language learners. The idea was codified into research as early as the 1960s by John J. Gumperz. Originally, linguistic researchers aimed to discover how bilingual speakers blended their languages. It was thought as improper language performance or failure to adhere to linguistic rules, but later research supported the idea that the blending was intentional and followed patterned rules that linguistically congruent people would understand (Heredia & Brown, 2015). Further research developed by Carol Meyers-Scotton looked at the motivation for code switching and found that code switchers choose to do so as they navigate rights and obligations of their language performance and the audience. For any given interaction there are certain social rules at play, also known as rights and obligations. The language performer has the choice to perform the expected performance or deviate from the norm. Meyers-Scotton (1998, 2020) argues that the choice to deviate (or code-switch) is dependent on the social factors the speaker would like to mediate. When performance standards are not clear, the speaker may explore with codes in order to establish a favorable social outcome suited to their needs (Meyer-Scotton, 1998, 2020).

Because codes are highly technical terms related to and dependent on the profession speaking about them, in this case linguistics--of which is outside the scope of my practice, Code switching is relative to developmental psychology through the idea of Gee's (2015) work on "Big D" Discourse. James Paul Gee (2015) takes time to define discourse and separate the two types, to encapsulate the idea expressed above as being

proximal to self-experience from a historical context of speaking, being, and doing. He argues that "Big D" Discourse is reflective of performances of identity that are expressed through language, actions, interactions, tools, technologies, beliefs, and values (Gee, 2015). Germane to my research is the notion that the thought of "being" is a reference to "being oneself" (i.e., self-concept).

This creates a flexible framework through which researchers, and me, can begin to look at how Discourses that involve self-concept language, values, and undertones are leveraged to better gain social outcomes that are favorable in the work environment. Heredia and Brown (2015) contend that fluent speakers who code switch seem to have a level of understanding of both languages to the extent that rules, even though they deviate from the norm, are understood by those who also hold the same identities. When considering discursive code switching, one must examine the identities at play and agree that the performer has membership, fluent access rather, to the discourse of two identities possibly within the same domain (gender, race, ethnicity, religion, etc.). This phenomenon can be conceptualized by applying the notion of double consciousness or multi-consciousness.

Behavioral Influences and Identity Development

Themes in research suggest that a multiplicity of identities are responsible for the dichotomous Black–White performance required for survival in the U.S. professional world, as well as responsible for discourses necessary to upkeep professional standards of practices; and have been for centuries (Davis et al., 2018; Fordham & Ogbu, 1986; Neal-Barnett et al., 2010). For example, there is a theme in the literature of Black women

professionals having high emotional intelligence and identity saliency awareness than the due to the nature of occupying White-dominated spaces and occupations (Crawford, 2021; Dickens, & Chavez, 2018). Thus, studying self and salience and individual choices may add to the work of code-switching motivation and impact the profession in a positive way as it relates to cultural sensitivity in practice. Same example can be used for lack of men professionals who are said to have to use a guise when in professional space to not be categorized as a stereotype (Cornileus, 2013; Jackson, 2018). Erikson placed a special emphasis on identity crisis and identity exploration as the processes by which identity development occurs. He highlights that identity is the outcome of biological, psychological, and social factors in action through choice. As such identity development is impacted by psychological, biological, and social contexts (Kroger, 2017).

Building on the work of Erikson, Marcia (1966) proposed that identity attainment and role confusion did not truly conclude in adolescence. Instead, Marcia proposed that identity development begins in adolescence by way of a period of crisis where values and choices are questioned which in turn leads to commitment to said values and choices.

Thus, identity attainment is not achieved rather identity is formed through commitment (Marcia, 1966). Identity is said to be achieved when a person commits to an adoption of a set of values and ideals, vocational direction, and sexual orientation (Rosenthal, 2000).

Marcia (1966) proposed that rather than being a staged process as Erikson suggests, identity is in a state of statues. He proposed there were 4 stages of identity status. Beyond Attainment, there is diffusion, foreclosure, and moratorium. Diffusion occurs when an individual has no sense of choice and no commitment to values, ideals, or trajectories.

Foreclosure occurs when an individual has some kind of commitment to roles, values, and ideals, however they have not experienced any crisis which leads to conformity to expectations of others in absence of any real exploration (Marcia 1966). Moratorium a period of crisis in which the individual is actively exploring but no commitment has been made (Erikson, 1985; Marcia, 1966).

Historically within Western society, identities were inherited or placed upon an individual, modern progressive changes have created a society where one also has the ability to choose their identity. This is largely in part due to less rigid social boundaries and greater access to education and thus wealth (Kroger, 2017). Similarly, where adults in society used to make the decision about a youth's identity prospects; that task now befalls the individual often at the onset of puberty. This has led to an individualization of personal identities (Cote, 2016) which creates a system of risk and reward as it relates consequence and opportunities. The risk and rewards are heavily embedded in social factors. According to Renfrow and Howard (2013) humans process information in a manner that is efficient at making meaning, finding patterns, and predicting outcomes. This process is known as social cognition. Because of social cognition, the human brain categorizes information about objects, people, and actions before it engages in situational inferences or memory. The mind stores this information in schemas. The schema one builds on one's identity (Renfrow & Howard, 2013). The self-schema is composed of characteristics, preferences, goals, and patterns of behavior. Individuals also hold group schemas, also conceptualized as stereotypes. Group schemas are composed of the same elements of self-schemas and help individuals process information on groups of people

who share common categorizations such as race, gender, class, sexual orientation, ability, age, and ethnicity, or social identities (Renfrow & Howard, 2000). These group schemas, similar to the self-schema, then become identities as well. In alignment with Erikson's idea (1968), the group schemas acts as parts of the self- identity, however the self-schema remains a distinct entity that is greater than the sum of its parts (Erikson, 1968, Howard, 2000).

The concept of social identity supports the nature of in-group and out-group perception and behavior specifically the notion that each person defines their own identities through the groups to which they belong in the interest of protecting and bolstering their own self-identity (Tajfel & Turner, 1986). The concept of group membership necessitates the creation of an "in-group" and "out-group" with a propensity to favor groups, and functions of them, with which one has membership (Tajfel & Turner, 1986). The aforementioned propensities to bolster and protect also causes individuals to exaggerate differences between in-group members and out-group members as well as increase the salience of distinguishing characteristics relative to each group. Positive bias toward the "in-group" develops as individuals begin to define themselves through the context of the group (Tajfel & Turner, 1986). This begins to blur the boundaries between a personal identity and the collective identity. As such attacks on the group become attacks on oneself. Research on social identity has also shown that competition for resources and historical tension furthers negative perceptions between in and out group members (Abbink & Harris, 2019).

The study of the process of developing a group identity is known as social identity development. With the advent of media, social identities have taken center stage and are at the core of many of the movements and changes to society that we see today.

According to Tajfel and Turner (1986) There are three elements that compose social identity development, social categorization, social identification, and social comparison.

The first element involves discrimination and grouping. Humans naturally discriminate as a means of survival. As babies we begin to formulate and test ideas on things that are "good" and "bad" for our survival. As we grow more abstract in our thinking, the categories change to fit our experiences (Piaget, 1929). Discrimination can lead to and is often the basis of prejudiced and harmful actions; but, at its core, discrimination is used to help make sense of the world. As humans apply this evolutionary skill to themselves social categorization occurs.

The second element involves adopting the norms, values, and actions of groups whom we feel are safe and similar to ourselves. During the identification process an adoption of all the elements of identity is required. As with any adoption process, bonds are made with the people of the group, the group itself, and (almost most importantly) the identification itself. When this occurs self-esteem can be impacted by one's relation to the group

The final element is social comparison. It is made up of maintained by constant comparison of the group, and its members, to other groups and their members. This usually results in a self-elevating view of self/the group and sometimes exaggerated negative views of non-group members (Tajfel & Turner, 1986).

Additionally, Tajfel and Turner wrote that all social behavior falls on a spectrum that is capped at the ends by interpersonal behavior and intergroup behavior. The authors theorize that most behavior requires a negotiation between the two ends of the spectrum. Identity then follows suit, with adoption of values falling on the same spectrum.

Socialization and Behavior

Racial identity has long been identified as being embedded in the socialization process of child and adolescent development. Primary to this process is the influence of family in that positive familial support can impact a youth's attitude about their race (Holloway & Varner, 2021). Previous studies indicate that socialization can predict the strength of an individual's racial identity (typically generalized as ethnic-racial identity) specifically, a parent with strong beliefs about their Blackness can instill these same beliefs in a child thus rendering their racial identity central to their worldview (Caldwell 2002; Marshall 1995; Thomas 2000). Racial socialization exists namely in the African American household due to the micro aggressive subtleties of mainstream America that provide people of color with experiences riddled with racial and discriminatory undertones (Hughley et al., 2019). As a result, internalized attitudes about their racial identity can ground traditional child rearing methods and overall parenting styles in Afrocentric ideals (Holloway & Varner, 2021; Thomas, 2000).

White-Johnson et al. (2010), describes the approach to racial identity development in three racial socialization profiles: the multifaceted, low race salience, and the unengaged profiles. The research suggests that each of these profiles can help to identify the parental socialization messages that are conveyed to children about race and society

(White-Johnson et al., 2010) which lends itself to the four identity dimensions within Sellers's multidimensional model of racial identity. Specifically, the parental message in each profile speaks to situational context(salience), group membership(centrality), feelings about group membership(regard), and feelings about how one should act as a member of that group(ideology) (Scottham et al., 2008). What remains unclear; however, is whether demographic factors such as age and gender influence parent's racial socialization methods with conflicting research from various studies (White-Johnson et al., 2010). What is clear, however, is the various studies that speak to the duality of self and society as it relates to how internalized messages manifest behavior. Research indicates that prosocial behavior is influenced by positive messages, inclusive when negative macro-level socialization messages are communicated to African American adolescent males. Those messages influence behavior at a macro level, and all can directly influence behavior at a micro level for the African American adolescent male.

Identity Threat to Self

Social identity threat occurs when a person perceives an identity they hold is under attack. Research shows that a typical response to this kind of threat is to either distance oneself from the said identity or to reinforce association with the said identity. Research from White et al. (2018) showed that high public self-awareness leads to the desire to display a consistent self which thus increases the propensity to reinforce association with threatened identity. Uniquely, White et al. focused their research on when social identity threat was perceived from an organizational community. Research also has shown that propensity to reinforce association with a threatened identity occurs

when a chance to enhance the said identity is possible (Shih et al., 2013). Identities are situationally influenced meaning that racial identity for Black Americans are influenced by contextual cues. That is not to say that elements of the identity are not stable. The stable elements of the collective identity are also influenced over time based on encounters with space and people. Individuals hold multiple identities that are ordered in value and interplay or inform each other. Perception of racial identity is the most valid indicator of their identity and overt behavior should ideally match self-reported perceptions of their racial identity. However, they do note that external influences can affect overt behaviors. There is an emphasis on adaptability of racial identity relative to the environment it was created in rather than an emphasis on whether a healthy (good) or unhealthy (bad) identity is in action. Racial identity is developed over the lifespan and as such a measure of racial identity at any given time can be understood as a snapshot and not as a place on a staged model.

The assimilationist ideology believes that Black Americans should act in a way that emphasizes and highlights commonalities between Black Americans and all other Americans. Lastly, the humanist ideology believes that Black Americans should act in a way that highlights and emphasizes commonalities among all human beings.

Sellers (1998), place a heavy emphasis on saliency. Though saliency is an identified dimension of racial identity it is said to be composed of situational cues and racial centrality. Racial salience then informs racial ideology and racial regard. This full process ends in appraisal or construal of a certain situation which then impacts behavior.

According to Sellers et al. (2003), this chain that results in behavior begins with both Literacy and the ability to gain and maintain social identities. However, research on Literacy and social languages suggests that Sellers's model of racial identity may view identities too rigidly and fixed, whereas they may be more fluid and intertwined than previously thought.

Workplace Environment

To understand racial saliency, self-concept, and power difference, I will utilize African American social service professionals. This was chosen due to the diversity in various organizational structures and the varying situations that occur which can put an individual's identity in direct conflict with ethical and organizational practices. Research on identity in the workplace suggests that when identities are in conflict, that is, if there is an impending threat to a valued identity that an individual can cloak themselves in a façade that upholds the accepted identity for said situation. For example, Leavitt and Sluss (2015), submit that in the event of failed identity enactment and exit, an individual may use dishonesty(lying) to shift the narrative towards the more accepted identity as a situational maintenance measure. Research also suggests that workplace identity and relational process are inseparable due to the transactional nature that exists within organizational spaces (including social services). For example, Hsu et al. (2014), uses cultural congruency as a reason for customer preference for same-race service providers due to some level of common characteristics that lead to shared thought process. Specifically utilizing the Lehigh Valley Trust Survey data was analyzed which revealed that out of 2,077 respondents, only about 20% felt it "quite important" for an individual

of the same race or ethnicity and showed with larger percentages relative to wanting a professional who knows their background of service (Hsu et al., 2014). Breaking this down in the study topic's context would imply that Discourse around quality of care may prompt customers with high racial saliency to request providers with that same relational identity. This speaks to the potential of an individual to leverage an identity for the purpose of conformity and anonymity stemming from workplace discourse.

Race and the Workplace Environment

Much research exists detailing the experiences of marginalized groups that highlight differences, slights, stereotype threat, and discrimination (Adisa et al., 2020; Brewster & Rusche, 2014; Hall et al., 2012). Namely psychological and economical differences can be seen which are negatively skewed towards racial and ethical minorities (Emerson & Murphy, 2014). Walton et al. (2015), explain that when there is a stereotype threat, that members of the stereotyped group become vigilant to situational cues that either signal identity safety or confirmation of non-acceptance. For example, patriarchal concepts and expectations to uphold the old-world ideals can pose a stereotypical threat to how individuals behave and perform in the workplace. Adisa et al. (2020) performed a study in which 32 women aged 22-40 to study background knowledge, private life, and work contexts as well as effects of patriarchy on workplace behavior and performance. What they found was that in male dominated space patriarchal social structures negatively impacted women's workplace behavior (Adisa et al., 2020). The findings imply that relational proximity to being a member of a marginalized group in the workplace can work against identity safety and confirmation regarding workplace

performance. In some instances, individuals who value their workplace identity over their relational identities will manipulate the cues that display their racial identity through a concept known as Racial identity-based impression management (Roberts et al., 2014). In other words, individuals will water down their racial identity to display identity characteristics that are more consistent with what is accepted to manipulate perception (Roberts et al., 2014). This is consistent with identity performance ideals that outline an individual's use of leveraging and negotiating identity to make choices that are perceivably accepted by White dominant culture (Culver, 2018). Additionally, Erez et al. (2015) explain that these interactions within the workplace are evaluated and speak to workplace relationships, appraisal, and reward within the environment. Research specific to social work practice reveals how historically there are missed opportunities to use race as a corner store to both the field and work. A specific example can be seen in Varghese's (2016) study where face to face interviews and case vignettes were used to reveal the lack of attention to specific race related topics in clinical social work programs. The findings show that many faculty members do not include race in their teachings and worse barely think about the topic as germane to the lesson (Varghese, 2016).

Role Relationships

Role Identity is a branch of identity development that focuses specifically on roles that interplay between role and identity. Roles have been defined as a set of behavioral expectations attached to a position in an organized set of social relationships. The performance of said role leads to a role-identity. According to Sluss (2007), roles provide one with a sense of who one is and who one is becoming. Roles, whether individual or

organizational, provide a way to structure, organize, and create a network of interdependent and intertwining tasks and responsibilities. Roles influence attitudes and behaviors via self-concept. Research in organizational roles focuses on how collective social categories influence self-concept and eventually behavior, affect, and cognition (Adisa et al., 2020; Brewster, & Rusche, 2014; Hall et al., 2012).

Role theories can be broken into two main groups. The first group places emphasis on how social structure institutionalized behavioral expectations across contexts. The other, symbolic interactionism theorizes that individuals use identity roles to relate, which in turn gives birth to shared, negotiated, meaning and relationships.

Additionally, symbolic interactionists would argue that role identities then create schemas to categorize and interpret experience.

Traditional research in role identity theory situates society at large as the bestower of role expectations and identity roles. However, identity roles and role relationships can be examined in other more specific contexts such as work. When referring to role relationships within a workplace context, organizational roles are formed and thus organizational role relationships. Organizational role relationships are impacted by institutionalized expectations as well. Leaving one within an organizational context organizing, managing, and performing a myriad of identity roles at one time. Role Identity research generally seeks to answer why do people choose a particular course of action, given situations where two or more sets of role expectations are affixed to two or more social relationships. This guiding question, and the research it brings forth, highlights the fact that at any given time a person can belong to various identities and be

in varied role-relationships that conflict and cause internal negotiations which in turn impact attitudes, behaviors, expectations, and performance. Sluss (2007) writes that identity saliency is the main factor that dictates the eventual choice between conflicting or opposing role identities.

Power Distance

Mulder (1977) defined power distance as "the degree of inequality in power between a less powerful individual and a more powerful other, in which individual and other belong to the same (loosely or tightly knit) social system" (pp.90). It is the concept that accounts for an uneven proximity to power in various institutions, groups, and organizational environments. Hofstede (1980) utilized and expanded this definition by incorporating it in his proposed Cultural Values dimensions (individualism and collectivism, power distance, masculinity and femininity, and uncertainty avoidance) that provided a framework to view diversity in values within people who are a part of the same group; this was later expanded to include additional dimensions (long term orientation, and indulgence) (Hofstede, 2011; Hofstede & Bond, 1988). In the context of supervisor-subordinate relationship, Khatri (2009) found in her research that when there is a high-power distance organization there exists a differentiation of tasks, duties, and decision making associated with the power difference. Lee et al. (2000) describes in their research the idea that attitudes about power distance are largely contingent upon a highstatus individual's ideals about societal and organization roles (i.e., role relationships). Research also suggests that leadership style can influence granted power/authority in that individuals are more likely to comply with given tasks due to supervisor creating a sense

of given authority that motivates the low power distance individual to achieve the ask (Fertik, 2000). A low power distance index score can also indicate a higher propensity to question authority and an expectation of the subordinate to participate in decision making (Hofstede, 1980). The power distance concept also explains the negotiation between behavior and power in the workplace context, specifically as it relates to the power distance between two parties in a hierarchy (boss and subordinate) marked by the difference between the extent to which both can determine each other's behavior (Hofstede, 1980). Since power distance is one of the indicators of values used to dictate rituals and relevant symbols which in turn impact one's ability to predict one's behavior in a given context (workplace) I used power distance as a variable.

Summary and Conclusions

In Chapter 2, I provided an in-depth review of the literature, which focused on major themes embedded in the study topic. One major theme that surfaced is that socialization is situated at the base of Black identity, meaning interactions with individuals of diverse cultures, environments, and belief systems are at the core of the self-learning process. Research place's strong Black identity in proximity to public domains of action through strategic assimilation where boundaries and selective identity extraction (choosing to display only parts of an identity), work in favor of maintaining the upkeep of identities in spaces as deemed appropriate by said environment without completely relinquishing the host's cultural identity (Meghji, 2017). The other major theme in the literature is the centrality of racial discrimination and racially charged occurrences whether intentional or unintentional can surface in a variety of settings in

which Black individuals have to shift or adjust to process and interactions that are not predicated on culturally sensitive Discourses.

I detailed factors that contribute to racial identity saliency and how these factors are relative to self-concept. Specific factors include culture, behavior and development, socialization, and environment. What is known about these areas is that they are all influential in perpetuating potentially negative barriers to racial saliency in institutions where Black individuals are expected to produce the same quality of work as their White counterparts without consideration for other intersecting identities that may be relative to the upkeep of their role. Research suggests that there are discriminatory and oppressive undertones that drive Black individuals to choose occupations that are "safe", which include careers in education, social service, and government work (Brown, 2016). What is missing from the research is the data that examine how important an individual's racial identity is relative to interaction and engagement. Specifically centered around racial saliency, power distance, and self-concept this research will fill this gap in literature by examining the extent to which these concepts relate to one another and how overall selfconcept influences employee tenure. Chapter 3 features the research design briefly mentioned in Chapter 1, and the approach to the study is detailed for the readers' understanding.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this research was to examine the correlation between racial salience and self-concept as it relates to Black social workers. My work made the argument that Black professionals in the social work field possess a multiplicity of identities by nature of their life and work which included power difference as well as employee tenure. Since points of contention (racial discrimination, oppression, microaggressions) regarding racial identity and management of self in the workplace has long been studied using various research methods and design, I provide in this chapter an in-depth explanation of the research design and rationale, which includes information on variables, time, and resource constraints, as well as design choice. Methodology is then discussed, where I provide information on the population, sampling, recruitment, participation, and data collection strategies. Lastly, I transition the reader into instrumentation, operationalization, threats to validity, data analysis plan, and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

The approach of this study was a quantitative, correlational design where racial salience, self-concept, power difference, and employee tenure are the identified variables. A quantitative research design was appropriate because it described the study's intent, which was to examine the significance of a relationship which utilized numeric data. According to Creswell (2013), quantitative research is used to explain the relationship of tested variables. This is in contrast to qualitative research which seeks to explore how people make meanings out of their experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Furthermore,

qualitative research has a smaller sample size and generalizations cannot be made (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Methodology

Population

The purpose of this study was to produce results that not only show the predictive relationship between the identified variables, but to also produce results that were representative of African American/ Black social work professionals. Therefore, the target population was individuals who identified as Black, and the participants had to have completed at least a bachelor's level social work program. Participants also had to be 18 years old or older to complete the study.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

Since existing data from census, national organizations, and other sources varies about the total population of Black/African American social workers, non-probabilistic, non-random purposive sampling was the option used to collect participants. A weak point of this method was external validity; however, the demographic questionnaire oriented the appropriate participants to study access. Participants engaged in the study via web link to a survey through a crowdsourcing website. Individuals who were under the age of 18 and those who did not have at least a bachelor's degree in social work were excluded from the study.

The estimated number of participants for this study was 77, which was determined using standard significance, power, and effect size values in the G* Power analysis program. According to Oribhabor and Anyanwu (2019), significance is typically

set to 5% or .05 citing that as significance criterion decreases, the sample size needed to detect minimum difference will need to increase. Significance is needed to determine the probability of detecting a Type I error. As the significance criterion is decreased, the sample size needed to detect the minimum difference increases (Oribhabor & Anyanwy, 2019). Opposite of significance is power, which is the probability of rejecting a null hypothesis, typically set to .8 or 80% and for a medium effect size .3 was used.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I collected demographic information, which included race/ethnicity and highest completed level of education. Additionally, participants were asked a single question to gauge employee tenure at their current job during the survey. Email blasts detailing the study were distributed to potential sample sources such as universities, non-profit, Greek, and professional organizations. A disclaimer explaining informed consent was presented at the beginning of the survey to ensure participants were fully aware of what to expect in the study and their willful choice to participate. After reading the informed consent and agreeing to the study's terms, the participants were prompted to continue through. According to Sellers et al. (2016), racial salience is measured at the junction of situational context and racial centrality, thus participants also completed the centrality subscale of the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity (Vandiver et al., 2009) to measure the racial salience variable. Since racial salience is not measured specifically on Sellers's measurement tool, Worrell et al. (2020) submitted that the centrality construct on the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity—defined as "a measure of whether race is a core part of an individual's self-concept" (Sellers et al., 1997a, p. 806)—is a strong

proxy for race salience given that salience is largely dependent on the situational context and centrality of the individual; centrality being a stable dimension.

Responses from the inventory were then recorded and categorized as either high or low racial salience. Participants were then asked to complete the Rosenberg's (1965) Self-Esteem Scale, which contained 10 statements that measured self-concept.

Participants were then prompted to complete the Cultural Values Scale, specifically the power distance index (Yoo et al., 2011). Responses were analyzed to answer research questions using regression analysis. At the study's start, participants were debriefed via standardized message that again explained what their responses were used for, the intent to notify once the findings are published, and their right to privacy. Once the study is completed, the link to the published findings will be made available to all the participant pools.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity

The Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity was created in 1997 by researchers Sellers, Rowley, Chavous, Shelton, and Smith. Since its operationalization, different scales have been used based on context of the research being conducted and has been used with Black persons, Native Americans, and individuals from different countries (Johnson et al., 2005; Nasim, et al., 2005; Wandert et al., 2009). Using the dimensions of the multidimensional model of racial identity as a foundation, the inventory contains three scales and reflects three of the four dimensions—Centrality, Regard, and Ideology (Sellers et al., 1997a). The Regard scale has two subscales: Private

Regard, made up of seven items, and Public Regard, made up of four. The Ideology scale has a total of 50 items that contains Assimilationist, Humanist, Nationalist, Oppressed Minority subscales. Lastly the Centrality scale has 10 items and measures "the extent to which being African American is central to the respondents' definition of themselves" (Sellers et al., 1997a, p. 805). Of importance is the test of the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity subscale's reliability evidenced by Cronbach's alpha ranging from .60 to .80 range (Vandiver et al., 2009).

For the purpose of this study the Centrality scale was used as it is a necessary scale to not only orient the participants towards the research, but it was also used to gauge the level of racial salience in each participant. Responses to items are given on a 7-point Likert-type scale which range from *strongly disagree* (1) to *strongly agree* (7) (Sellers et al., 1997a). Participants had an unlimited amount of time to complete the questionnaire. The Centrality scale again is 10 questions; thus, the anticipated time needed to complete it is neither extended nor constrained. Participants completed this questionnaire online, which became available after the demographic survey was completed. This instrument was free and open to use without written permission. The actual instrument is included in Appendix A.

Self-Esteem Scale

The self-esteem scale is a 10-item survey used to measure the self-concept variable. The scale is widely used to measure self-concept as it utilizes a 4-point Likert scale ranging from *strongly disagree* (1) to *strongly agree* (4) to gauge overall self-worth, which is often used interchangeably with self-concept. The scale has proven to have an

internal consistency of .77 evidenced in the original study, and a Cronbach's alpha ranging from .77 to .88 representing multiple samples (Blascovich & Tomaka, 1993; Rosenburg 1986). The scale also has a test—retest reliability of .85 and .88 over 2 weeks. Additionally, the scale for the instrument is forward and reverse scored, and score totals can range from 0 to 30. Participants completed this scale, and those scores were used to determine whether participants have a high or low sense of self-concept. That information was then used to answer research questions.

Cultural Values Scale

The Cultural Values Scale was proposed by researchers Yoo, Donthu, and Lenartowicz in 2011 as an expansion of Geert Hofstede's (1991) cultural values scale that measured cultural values at the country level (Prasongsukarn, 2009). Various researchers have validated its psychometric properties and have found it sound in measure, which does include research outside the United States (Bilgin & Kutlu, 2022; Prasongsukarn, 2009; Yoo et al., 2011). The Cultural Values Scale is a 26-item 5-dimensional scale that measures individual cultural orientations. Consistent with Hofstede (1991), the five dimensions of the Cultural Values Scale are power distance, uncertainty avoidance, collectivism, long-term orientation, and masculinity. Participants respond to items in each dimension using a 5-point Likert scale, which can then be analyzed to examine cultural values at the individual level (Yoo et al., 2011). Germane to my research is the specific focus on the power distance index, which includes 5 items (see Appendix B). Relative to reliability, the Power Distance scale presented with a Cronbach alpha of .69 (Yoo et al., 2011). Additionally, unidimensionality was established

through factor analysis for each dimension with power distance having an eigenvalue of 2.091 in a Turkish sample. Studies across various cultures and countries have shown strong reliability with Cronbach alpha's greater than .6 (Chan et al., 2010; Schumann et al. 2010; Soares et al. 2007).

Data Analysis Plan

The data in this research represented four variables with racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure serving as predictor variables and self-concept as the criterion variable. A standard multiple regression analysis best fit this study based on the intent to examine the degree to which one variable is related to two or more variables within a sample (Apuke, 2017). According to Hazra (2016), if there are two highly correlated variables, it is plausible to use one variable (*x*) to predict another (*y*) using the linear regression equation and line of best fit. A scatter plot is appropriate when meeting requirements of assumptions (Hazra, 2016). Data again were collected utilizing standardized survey instruments and analyzed using SPSS software. There was no missing or incomplete data to exclude from analysis based on complete case analysis.

Research Questions and Hypothesis

There were three research questions in this study. Each research question had a null hypothesis as well as an alternative hypothesis. The research questions and hypothesis were as follows:

RQ1: To what degree does racial saliency predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?

 H_{01} : Racial saliency as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale in the workplace.

 $H_{\rm al}$: Racial salience as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale in the workplace.

RQ2: To what degree does perceive power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?

 H_{02} : Perceived power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept.

 H_{a2} : Perceived power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

RQ3: To what degree does Black social workers' employee tenure predict attitudes about self-concept?

 H_{03} : Employee tenure as measured by length of stay in current role does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

 H_{a3} : Employee tenure as measured by length of stay in current role will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept as measured by the Self-Esteem Scale.

Threats to Validity

A potential threat to validity was the use of the purposive sampling technique. This technique specifically targets a population of individuals to answer specific research questions (Setia, 2016). For this study, I specifically targeted Black/African American social workers. External validity is weakened when using this type of sampling because the more purposive or targeted criteria there are in the sample, the less representative that sample will be of the population, thus decreasing generalizability (Andrade, 2021).

Another potential threat to validity was the use of the internet for web-based data collection measures. Using the internet diminished the ability to control the environment specifically by verifying that participants are who they say they are. Since I used self-report measures, there was a level of trust that participants fit the demographic criteria for participation in the study specifically as it pertains to race and level of education, and employee tenure.

Another threat to validity was participants potentially providing the socially desirable or politically correct response to the surveys so that they seem more favorable. Again, when using self-report measures, it is assumed that the participant answered the surveys and questionnaires truthfully and with fidelity. The identities of the participants were completely anonymous, which should have helped in getting honest answers from participants as well.

Ethical Procedures

Ethics in research provides conduct guidelines that outline limitations and appropriate practice to be upheld by both student and professional researchers. To mimic

what standards have been set regarding legal compliance, I first sought approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board (IRB), which was obtained prior to the start of the research. Recruitment was done via mass emails with a brief overview of the study as well as an access link to the study. Recruitment sources included the National Association of Black Social Workers, Black Greek organizations, social work programs, professional social media groups, as well as non-profit organizations. No direct contact or face-to-face interaction with the potential participants occurred. To begin the study, participants first gave consent to participate and were also notified of their rights to privacy. Data were collected and protected via a secure website and then transferred into the SPSS program for analysis. The information was password protected and only accessible to me.

Summary

In Chapter 3, I detailed the study's quantitative research methodology and how I intended to conduct the research from start to finish. Specifically, the chapter included information on research design and rationale, methodology, procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection. Also included in this chapter was instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan, research questions and hypotheses, and ethical procedures. In the coming fourth chapter is detailed information about the study's findings and results, pertaining to the regression analysis conducted. Findings are detailed in tables as well as descriptions.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the predictive relationships between the independent variables of racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure on Black social workers' self-concept (dependent variable). I recruited a sample of social workers who were at least 18 years of age, had at least a bachelor's degree in social work, and identified as Black or African American. I analyzed survey responses of the participants statistically to determine if there exists a relationship between variables. Specifically, I sought to answer the following research questions:

- 1. To what degree does racial saliency predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?
- 2. To what degree does perceive power distance as measured by the Power Distance Index predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace?
- 3. To what degree does Black social workers' employee tenure predict attitudes about self-concept?

This chapter presents the descriptive statistics of basic demographic information and the study variables. This chapter will also include the results of the statistical analyses to address each of the study's research questions. This chapter concludes with a summary of the key findings of the data analyses conducted in this study.

Data Collection

After obtaining IRB approval (Approval No. 09-19-23-0954364), I began data collection. Participants interested in taking the survey accessed a link on the flyer. This

flyer was distributed via social media groups, local non-profits, as well as Black Greek organizations using email blast and content posting. Participation was voluntary, and participants could opt out at any point during the survey. The link directed participants to the survey which began with consent, transitioned into demographic information that screened for eligibility criteria, and then went onto scales that measured the variables which included the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, Cultural Values Scale, and the Power Distance Index. I kept the link active until I received a minimum sample size of at least 77 total completed responses which resulted in a 60-day live link. There was an ebb and flow of participation over the live link data collection period. I administered the survey via SurveyMonkey to collect data from the participants, which I then downloaded to Microsoft Excel using a secure device. This data were then sorted and transferred into the SPSS program.

The survey yielded a sample of 79 participants in total; however, there were missing data that I addressed during data analysis. When performing a regression analysis using statistical software like SPSS, a researcher can specify methods for managing missing data, such as listwise deletion or the removal of cases with missing data for a particular variable in the analysis. If the percentage of missing data is minimal and is not expected to significantly impact the overall analysis, employing listwise exclusion is justified, as stated by Saunders et al. (2006). In this process, participants with missing data were only excluded from the specific analysis where the data were absent. Specifically, the Self-Esteem Scale was the only variable that presented with missing data; therefore, listwise deletion was applied.

Demographic Characteristics of the Sample

I collected 79 completed responses for the study. I determined the minimum sample size necessary for the study to be at least 77 participants, which was determined using G*Power analysis. Frequencies and percentages are used to describe demographic characteristics. The largest number of participants (n = 32) lived in Pennsylvania, and the remainder of participants came from various locations across the United States (see Table 1). The majority of the participants (59.5%, n = 47) hold a master's degree (see Table 2). Nearly a third (29.1%, n = 23) have been in their current position for at least 1 year but less than 3 years (see Table 3), and just over a third (35.4%, n = 28) described their current job level as intermediate (see Table 4). Note that that number of years in current position is used to measure the independent variable, employee tenure.

Table 1

In What State or U.S. Territory Do You Live?

				Cumulative
State or U.S. Territory	Frequency	Percent	Valid percent	percent
Alabama	2	2.5	2.5	2.5
Arizona	1	1.3	1.3	3.8
California	5	6.3	6.3	10.1
Colorado	1	1.3	1.3	11.4
Connecticut	1	1.3	1.3	12.7
Delaware	1	1.3	1.3	13.9
District of Columbia (DC)	2	2.5	2.5	16.5
Florida	1	1.3	1.3	17.7
Georgia	9	11.4	11.4	29.1
Illinois	2	2.5	2.5	31.6
Kansas	2	2.5	2.5	34.2
Kentucky	2	2.5	2.5	36.7
Louisiana	1	1.3	1.3	38.0
Michigan	1	1.3	1.3	39.2
Mississippi	1	1.3	1.3	40.5
New York	4	5.1	5.1	45.6
North Carolina	3	3.8	3.8	49.4
Ohio	2	2.5	2.5	51.9
Pennsylvania	32	40.5	40.5	92.4
South Carolina	2	2.5	2.5	94.9
Texas	3	3.8	3.8	98.7
Virginia	1	1.3	1.3	100.0
Total	79	100.0	100.0	

Table 2
What is the Highest Level of Education You Have Completed?

				Cumulative
Education level	Frequency	Percent	Valid percent	percent
Bachelor's degree	28	35.4	35.4	35.4
Doctorate/post doc training	4	5.1	5.1	40.5
Master's degree	47	59.5	59.5	100.0
Total	79	100.0	100.0	

Table 3

About How Many Years Have You Been in Your Current Position?

				Cumulative
Years in current position	Frequency	Percent	Valid percent	percent
10 years or more	11	13.9	13.9	13.9
At least 1 year but less than 3 years	23	29.1	29.1	43.0
At least 3 years but less than 5 years	19	24.1	24.1	67.1
At least 5 years but less than 10 years	15	19.0	19.0	86.1
Less than 1 year	11	13.9	13.9	100.0
Total	79	100.0	100.0	

Table 4Which of the Following Best Describes Your Current Job Level?

	Г	D (37.1'1	Cumulative
Description of current job level	Frequency	Percent	Valid percent	percent
Entry level	6	7.6	7.6	7.6
Intermediate	28	35.4	35.4	43.0
Middle management	26	32.9	32.9	75.9
Other (please specify)	6	7.6	7.6	83.5
Owner/executive/C-level	5	6.3	6.3	89.9
Senior management	8	10.1	10.1	100.0
Total	79	100.0	100.0	

A *t*-test was conducted for location to determine if there was significance between Pennsylvania and non-Pennsylvanian residents. Since nearly half the sample was drawn from one state, a comparison of means on all variables between the two groups was appropriate. Results showed the groups were not significantly different on the self-concept, and employee tenure variables; however, there is significance with the power distance and racial salience variables. Tables 5–12 detail the findings.

Table 5

Group Statistics (Self-Esteem Scale)

-					
	Location	N	M	SD	SEM
Self-Esteem scale	Pennsylvanian participants	28	22.2357	2.28493	.43181
	Non-Pennsylvanian participants	46	23.1543	2.16659	.31945

Table 6

Independent Samples Test (Self-Esteem Scale)

		Levene's test for equality of variances t-test for Equality						y of Means		
						Sig. (2-	Mean	Std. error	95% con interval differ	of the ence
		F	Sig.	t	df	tailed)	difference	difference	Lower	Upper
Self- Esteem Scale	Equal variances assumed	.659	.420	-1.733	72	.087	91863	.53013	-1.97544	.13817
	Equal variances not assumed			-1.710	54.793	.093	91863	.53713	-1.99515	.15789

Table 5 represents the descriptive statistics for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to self-concept. From the table we can infer that participants from non-Pennsylvanian have the highest mean value (M = 23.15, SD = 2.2) when compared to the other group. Additionally, Table 6 represents the independent sample t test for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to self-concept. From table 6, the Significant value (p = .087) shows that there is no statistically significant relationship between participants from Pennsylvania and those not from Pennsylvania since the P-value of .087 is greater than .05 (95% CI).

Table 7

Group Statistics (Power Distance Index)

	Location	N	М	SD	SEM
Power distance	Pennsylvanian participants	32	9.1438	5.19087	.91762
	Non-Pennsylvanian participants	47	7.2723	2.83501	.41353

Table 8

Independent Samples Test (Power Distance Index)

	Levene's test for equality of variances t-test for equality						y of means			
						Sig. (2-	Mean	Std. error	interva	nfidence Il of the rence
		$\boldsymbol{\mathit{F}}$	Sig.	t	df	tailed)	difference	difference	Lower	Upper
Power distance	Equal variances assumed	5.183	.026	2.064	77	.042	1.87141	.90665	.06604	3.67678
	Equal variances not assumed			1.859	43.656	.070	1.87141	1.00650	15751	3.90033

Table 7 illustrates the descriptive statistics for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to power distance. From the table we can deduce that participant from Pennsylvanian have the highest mean value (M = 9.14, SD = 5.2) when compared to the other group. Table 8 represents the independent sample t test for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to power distance. Table 8 shows that there is a statistically significant relationship (p = .042) between participants from Pennsylvania and those not from Pennsylvania in terms of power distance since the P-value of .042 is less than .05 (95% CI).

Table 9

Group Statistics (Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity)

-					
	Location	N	M	SD	SEM
Multidimensional	Pennsylvanian participants	32	33.0586	6.76067	1.19513
Inventory of Black Identity	Non-Pennsylvanian participants	47	28.7420	6.63849	.96832

Table 10

Independent Samples Test (Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity)

		-	e's test uality iances			<i>t</i> -tes	t for equality	of means		
						Sig. (2-	Mean	Std. error	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	tailed)	difference	difference	Lower	Upper
Multidimensi onal Inventory of	Equal variances assumed	.024	.878	2.816	77	.006	4.31657	1.53279	1.26440	7.36875
Black Identity	Equal variances not assumed			2.806	65.917	.007	4.31657	1.53818	1.24543	7.38771

Table 9 shows the descriptive statistics for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to multidimensional inventory of Black identity. From the table we can infer that the participants from Pennsylvania have the highest mean value (M=33.06, SD=6.76) when compared to the other group. Table 10 represents the independent sample t test for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity. Table 10 reveals that there is a statistically significant relationship (p=.006) between participants from Pennsylvania and those not from Pennsylvanian in terms of Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity since the P-value of .006 is less than .05 (95% CI).

Table 11 *Group Statistics (Years in Current Position)*

	Location	N	M	SD	SEM
Years in current position	Pennsylvanian participants	32	1.91	.296	.052
	Non-Pennsylvanian participants	46	1.83	.383	.057

Table 12Independent Samples Test (Years in Current Position)

		Leve test equali varia	for ity of			t-tes				
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Mean difference	Std. error	95% con interva differ	l of the
Years in current	Equal variances assumed	4.293	.042	.994	76	.323	.080	.081	080	.241
position	Equal variances not assumed				75.093	.301	.080	.077	073	.234

Table 11 represents the descriptive statistics for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to number of years in current position. The participants from Pennsylvania have the highest mean value (M = 1.91, SD = .296) when compared to the other group. Table 12 represents the independent sample t test for location (Pennsylvanian and Non-Pennsylvanian) with respect to number of years in current position. Table 12 shows that there is no statistically significant relationship (p = .323) between participants from Pennsylvania and those not from Pennsylvania in terms of number of years in current position since the P-value of .323 is greater than .05 (95% CI).

Overall results of the comparison of the participants from Pennsylvania vs those not from Pennsylvania suggest that the overall participant group is not homogenous on

these variables. These results might impact the overall analysis of the entire group on the identified variables addressed in the hypotheses.

Results

Multiple Regression Analysis

I conducted preliminary analyses to ensure there was no violation of the assumptions which included linearity, normality, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity. The data presented no concerns or violations. Multiple regression was used to evaluate the predictive relationship between the power distance, racial salience, employee tenure, and self-concept variables. Tables 13, 14, and 15 illustrate the regression analysis for all research questions.

Table 13 *Model Summary*

				Std. error	Change statistics				
		R	Adjusted	of the	R square	$\boldsymbol{\mathit{F}}$			Sig. F
Model	R	square	R square	estimate	change	change	df1	df2	change
1	.205 ^a	.042	.001	2.24082	.042	1.022	3	70	.388 b

^a Predictors: (Constant), Numbers of Years in Current Position, Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, Power distance.

Table 13 represents the model summary of the multiple linear regression analysis for Numbers of years in current position (employee tenure), Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, power distance and Self-Esteem Scale. The Adjusted R Squared value

^b Dependent variable: Self-Esteem Scale

 $(AR^2 = .001)$ in Table 13 shows that .1% variation in the dependent variable Self-Esteem Scale was explained by the independent variables.

Table 14Analysis of Variance

	Model	Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	15.398 ^a	3	5.133	1.022	.388 b
	Residual	351.488	70	5.021		
	Total	366.887	73			

^a Dependent Variable: Self-Esteem Scale

Table 14 illustrates the ANOVA of the multiple linear regression analysis for Numbers of years in current position, Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, power distance and Self-Esteem Scale. From the table, the Significance value (P-value = .388) shows that there is no statistically significant relationship between Numbers of years in current position (employee tenure), Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, power distance and Self-Esteem Scale since the P-value of .388 is greater than .05 (95% confidence level).

^b Predictors: (Constant), Numbers of Years in Current Position, Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity, Power distance

Table 15

Coefficients

	Unstandardized coefficients		Standardized coefficients			95.0% confidence interval for B	
Nr. 1.1	D	G.F.	D 4	T	a.	Lower	Upper
Model	В	SE	Beta	T	Sig.	bound	bound
1 (Constant)	24.210	1.252		19.336	.000	21.712	26.707
Power distance	102	.065	185	-1.562	.123	232	.028
Multidimensional Inventory of Black	018	.039	056	472	.638	095	.059
Identity Numbers of Years in Current Position	238	.896	031	265	.791	-2.025	1.549

Dependent Variable: Self-Esteem Scale

From the coefficients in Table 15, the Significance value (P-value =.123) shows that there is no statistically significant relationship between Power distance and Self-Esteem Scale since the P-value of .123 is greater than .05 (95% confidence level). Therefore, null hypothesis (H_{02} : Perceived power distance does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept) is valid and not rejected while the Alternative hypothesis (H_{A2} : Perceived power distance will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept) is rejected.

Likewise, the Significance value (P-value = .638) depicts the existence of no statistically significant predictive relationship between Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity and Self-Esteem Scale since the P-value of .638 is greater than .05 (95% confidence level). Hence, null hypothesis (H_{01} : Racial saliency as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity does not predict Black social workers'

attitudes about self-concept in the workplace) is valid and not rejected while the Alternative hypothesis ($H_{\rm Al:}$ Racial salience as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept in the workplace) is rejected.

In addition, the Significance value (P-value =.791) reveals the existence of no statistically significant predictive relationship between the numbers of years in current position and Self-Esteem Scale since the P-value of .791 is greater than .05 (95% confidence level). Therefore, null hypothesis (H₀₃: Employee tenure as measured by length of stay in current role (employee tenure) does not predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept) is valid and not rejected while the Alternative hypothesis (H_{A3}: Employee tenure will predict Black social workers' attitudes about self-concept) is rejected.

The model can be given as: $Y = B_0 + B_1 * X_1 + Error$.

Self-Esteem Scale = 22.210 + -.102 * Power distance + -.018 *

Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity + - .238 *Employee tenure

B₀ with the value of 22.210 is the intercept of the model equation. This depicts that when other variables are zero, Self-Esteem Scale would be 22.210. The Power distance with the coefficient of -.102, implies that a unit decrease in Power distance corresponds to a unit decrease in Self-Esteem Scale by -.102. Likewise, the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity with the coefficient of -.018, implies that a unit decrease in Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity corresponds to a unit decrease in Self-Esteem Scale by -.018. Finally, employee tenure with the coefficient of -

.238, implies that a unit decrease in employee tenure corresponds to a unit decrease in Self-Esteem Scale by -.238.

Summary

In Chapter 4, I described the characteristics of the sample, data collection and screening procedures, as well as multiple regression analyses used to test each hypothesis individually. Multiple regression was used specifically to determine if there exists a relationship between predictor variables and the outcome variable. The results illustrate that there is no significant predictive relationship between any of the independent variables (power distance, racial salience, employee tenure) and self-concept (dependent). The data screening results that noted a statistically significant difference between the participants from Pennsylvania and those from other states on the power distance and racial salience variables may have impacted the lack of significant findings. In Chapter 5, I interpret the findings of the study while also describing the limitations of the study and recommendations for further research.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between characteristics of the Black social worker identity and overall self-concept. At present, many researchers have focused on the collective experiences of social workers as well as the effects of unevenness between education and actual fieldwork which are typically reduced to the client-social worker relationship (Sacristan & Lalane, 2022; Ying, 2011). Additionally, there was a dearth of information specific to the Black social worker in proximity to self-concept and the relationship that may or may not have existed based on their identity in the workplace as opposed to the field or the classroom. To continue to understand how self-concept effects individuals across various identities and contexts, it is necessary to understand the predictive relationship between key factors such as power distance, racial salience, and tenure predictors specific to the workplace setting. In this chapter, I will provide interpretations of the results of this study and how they relate to the literature. I will also offer the limitations of this research, recommendations for future research, and the implications for social change as in alignment with the motivation of this study.

Interpretation of the Findings

The research findings present a nuanced perspective on the relationships between racial salience, power distance, employee tenure, and self-concept. Contrary to initial expectations, the study findings indicated that racial salience, or the heightened awareness of one's racial identity, may not serve as a strong predictor of self-concept at least as measured by the Multidimensional Inventory of Black Identity centrality scale prefaced in the workplace setting. The absence of a significant predictive correlation

suggests that other contextual factors or individual differences might overshadow the impact of racial salience on how employees perceive themselves within the organizational setting. The geographical differences between the participants may have also impacted the lack of significant results. Post hoc analysis is recommended to further evaluate the potential predictive relationship. This lack of a relationship finding is similar to the conventional assumption that racial salience significantly predicts the self-concept of Black social workers, the study conducted by Ufkes et al. (2016). They discovered that, in contrast to emphasizing distinct group identities or dual identities, a common ingroup identity diminishes the motivation for social change. This is because recategorization makes members of disadvantaged groups less attuned to general groupbased disparities. Past studies have shown that positive intergroup interactions, a phenomenon consistently emphasized in other research (Gaertner et al., 1996), can foster a stronger sense of shared identity over individual identity. This implies that additional factors, such as professional identity groups and systems, may significantly influence the self-concept of Black social workers who hold in-group membership. Additionally, Berdahl and Min (2012) described stereotype violations in which people of color who do not fit into stereotypes are typically targeted for harassment, thus making it likely for these individuals to present as "fine" within a specific setting to avoid being singled out implying the potential weakening of racial salience in those settings. Ackroyd and Thompson, (2003) submitted that people may define themselves conceptually as members of a group and may hold attitudes (positive and negative) about the group, but

the group may, nevertheless, be relatively unimportant to their understanding of who they are. This is consistent with the lack of relationship evident in my research.

Similarly, the study findings challenge the assumption that power distance within an organization is a direct predictor of self-concept. The geographical differences between the participants may have impacted the lack of significant results. Post hoc analysis is recommended to further evaluate the potential predictive relationship. While power dynamics can undoubtedly influence the work environment (Richard et al., 2020), the findings suggest that its impact on employees' self-perception may not be as straightforward at least as measured by the Power Distance Index. Factors such as leadership style, organizational culture, and communication practices may play a more substantial role in shaping self-concept than the mere existence of a hierarchical structure with distinct power distances. Research states that those individuals in a position of power typically have an increased sense of self-esteem given the control and influence over resources and outcomes (Barlett & Arpin, 2020; Sosik et al., 2014). Watson and Barone's (1976) research indicated that Black individuals who have achieved success in managerial positions perceive themselves positively, at least to the same extent as their White managerial counterparts. The generalization suggesting a negative self-concept did not apply to Black managers and instead suggests that power dynamics would not cause fluctuation after the positive self-concept is achieved. Variation in the study participants may have also been influential in illustrating the lack of predictive value. The idea is that the variation in characteristics, backgrounds, or experiences among the study participants might have contributed to the observed lack of statistical significance in predicting

certain outcomes. In other words, the diverse nature of the participants may have introduced complexities that made it challenging to identify clear patterns or make accurate predictions based on the variables under consideration. This acknowledgment underscores the importance of considering participant diversity when interpreting study results and highlights that predictive models may not universally apply across varied demographic or contextual conditions.

The study also reveals that employee tenure might not be a reliable predictor of self-concept in the workplace. Although tenure is often associated with a sense of belonging and identity within an organization, the findings indicate that the relationship is complex and multifaceted. The duration of employment alone may not be sufficient to predict or explain variations in self-concept, as other contextual factors and individual experiences come into play, challenging the notion that tenure universally dictates how employees perceive themselves professionally. The study emphasized the importance of considering the impact of systemic inequalities and workplace dynamics specific to Black social workers, suggesting that factors such as racial discrimination and limited career advancement opportunities could influence how tenure correlates with self-concept in this professional context.

Limitations of the Study

Conducting a study on the self-concept of Black social workers while considering racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure as predictors comes with several limitations. Firstly, the challenge lies in accurately measuring and isolating the impact of each predictor on self-concept, as these factors are often interconnected and can influence

each other. Racial salience, for instance, may not exist in isolation but may interact with power distance and tenure, making it difficult to attribute changes in self-concept solely to one variable.

Generalizability is also a concern. Findings from such a study may not be universally applicable to all Black social workers, as experiences and perceptions can vary significantly within this group. Social workers may belong to different demographic subgroups or work in diverse organizational contexts, introducing additional variables that could impact their self-concept. This limitation raises questions about the external validity of the study and its ability to provide insights that can be broadly applied.

Third, there is the risk of oversimplifying the experiences of Black social workers by reducing them to a set of quantifiable variables. Racial salience, for instance, is a complex construct that encompasses subjective experiences and perceptions related to one's racial identity. Attempting to measure such intricate aspects with quantitative metrics might overlook the qualitative nuances and richness of these experiences, limiting the depth of insights gained from the study.

Additionally, the study's findings may be influenced by cultural biases embedded in measurement tools. Traditional assessments of power distance and self-concept might not adequately capture the unique cultural contexts and dynamics within the social work profession, potentially leading to a skewed representation of the relationship between these predictors. Ensuring that measurement instruments are culturally sensitive and relevant is crucial for the study's validity and applicability.

The study's cross-sectional nature may limit the understanding of the dynamic nature of self-concept development over time. Employee tenure, for instance, may change and evolve, potentially altering the influence it has on self-concept. A longitudinal approach would provide a more comprehensive perspective, capturing the nuances of how these predictors interact and affect the self-concept of Black social workers over their careers.

Finally, the limitation arising from truncating employee tenure into categories rather than capturing specific years introduces a potential lack of precision in the assessment of individual employees' length of service. This simplification might overlook nuances in tenure duration, hindering a detailed understanding of the impact of specific timeframes on outcomes. Additionally, the use of broad categories may mask variations within each group, limiting the ability to discern subtle differences in experiences or performance based on more fine-grained tenure distinctions. Overall, navigating these limitations is crucial to ensuring the study's findings are meaningful and applicable to the real-world experiences of Black social workers. Addressing these limitations requires a thoughtful consideration of research design, measurement tools, and a commitment to acknowledging and understanding the complexity of the experiences under investigation.

Recommendations

A study of this nature opens avenues for critical future research. Future studies should investigate the nuanced interplay between the predictor variables, considering how their combined influence shapes the self-concept of Black social workers over time.

Employing mixed methods approaches, including both quantitative surveys and qualitative interviews, can provide a comprehensive understanding of the complex dynamics involved. This multifaceted approach is crucial for capturing the subjective experiences and perceptions of Black social workers within diverse organizational contexts. Considering the risk of oversimplifying experiences, future studies could integrate qualitative research methods, such as interviews or focus groups, to delve deeper into the subjective experiences and perceptions related to racial salience. This qualitative approach will provide a richer understanding of the complexities associated with racial identity and self-concept, complementing quantitative measurements.

To address concerns about generalizability, researchers should adopt a more diverse sampling strategy that considers demographic subgroups and organizational contexts within the Black social worker population. By acknowledging and incorporating these variations, the study's external validity can be improved, offering insights that are more broadly applicable to different segments of the population. A comprehensive sampling approach would involve purposive sampling that deliberately includes participants from different demographic categories, ensuring representation across age cohorts, genders, educational levels, and geographical locations. This will facilitate a more accurate reflection of the diverse experiences and perspectives within the Black social worker community. Moreover, researchers should be attentive to organizational nuances, acknowledging the distinct cultures, policies, and practices prevalent in various work settings. This could involve stratifying the sample based on organizational

characteristics such as the size of the agency, urban or rural placement, and the nature of services provided.

The exploration of mediating and moderating variables can enhance the study's depth and applicability as well. Research should investigate potential factors that may mitigate or exacerbate the impact of racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure on self-concept. For instance, examining the role of organizational policies, leadership styles, and mentorship programs in shaping the self-concept of Black social workers can offer practical insights for intervention strategies. Identifying these factors can guide the development of targeted interventions to enhance the well-being and professional development of Black social workers.

Implications

Although the study's findings did not yield statistically significant results, there are still implications for social change. The challenge to conventional assumptions underscores the need to broaden our understanding of the factors influencing the self-concept of Black professionals. It emphasizes the importance of recognizing the intricacies and individuality of experiences within the Black social work community, promoting a more informed approach to addressing the challenges they may face. Social work institutions should actively engage in dialogue and advocacy, promoting systemic change to eliminate barriers that hinder the positive self-concept of Black professionals and other professionals. By identifying potential mitigating factors and informing targeted interventions, this research can catalyze transformative social change.

Conclusion

In sum, the examination of racial salience, power distance, and employee tenure as predictors of the self-concept of Black social workers has yielded results that implicate a need for further research to understand how the Black racial identity, power distance, and employee tenure connects to the overall self-concept in specific settings. The interpretation of findings highlights the nuanced interplay between these variables as well as the importance of acknowledging and addressing the variables in fostering a supportive and inclusive work environment for Black social workers, thereby contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of the complexities inherent in the field.

Moreover, the recommendations for future research emphasize the need for continued exploration into the evolving landscape of social work, with a focus on refining interventions and policies that address the identified predictors. The implications for social change emphasized the urgency of implementing organizational reforms and fostering a culture that values diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives. By integrating these recommendations into practice, the social work profession can advance towards a more equitable and supportive environment, ultimately contributing to broader societal transformations and dismantling systemic barriers.

References

- Ackroyd, S., & Thompson, P. (2003). Organizational misbehaviour. SAGE Publications
 Ltd, https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446222232
- Adams, E. A., Kurtz-Costes, B., Hoffman, A. J., Volpe, V. V., & Rowley, S. J. (2020).

 Longitudinal relations between skin tone and self-esteem in African American girls. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(12), 2322–2330.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001123
- Adisa, T. A., Cooke, F. L, & Iwowo, V. (2020). Mind your attitude: The impact of patriarchy on women's workplace behaviour. *Career Development International*, 25(2), 146–164. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-07-2019-0183
- Alio, A. P., Lewis, C. A., Elder, H., Norwood, W., Mufhandu, K., & Keefer, M. C. (2020). Self-reported experiences of racial discrimination among African Americans in Upstate New York. *Journal of Black Studies*, *51*(5), 481–500. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934720925786
- Allen, E., Jr. (2003). Du Boisian double consciousness: The unsustainable argument.

 Black Scholar, 33(2), 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/00064246.2003.11413214
- Allen, J. (2019). What's the big "D"? Contemporary approaches to Discourse in interpersonal and family communication scholarship. *Communication Theory*, 29(1), 107-127. https://doi.org/10.1093/ct/qty012
- Alloy, L. B., Fedderly, S. S., Kennedy-Moore, E., & Cohan, C. L. (1998). Dysphoria and social interaction: An integration of behavioral confirmation and interpersonal perspectives. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74(6), 1566–1579.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.74.6.1566

- Alvarez-Hernandez, L. R. (2021). Teaching note—Teaching intersectionality across the social work curriculum using the intersectionality analysis cluster. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *57*(1), 181–188.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2020.1713944
- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620977000
- Apuke, O. D. (2017). Quantitative research methods: A synopsis approach. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review (Kuwait Chapter)*, 6(11), 40-47. http://doi.org/10.12816/0040336
- Atkinson, J. L., & Sloan, R. G. (2017). Exploring the impact of age, race, and stereotypes on perceptions of language performance and patronizing speech. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, *36*(3), 287–305.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0261927X16662967
- Azzopardi, C. (2020). Cross-cultural social work: A critical approach to teaching and learning to work effectively across intersectional identities. *British Journal of Social Work*, 50(2), 464–482. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcz169
- Bailey, J., Steeves, V., Burkell, J., Shade, L. R., Ruparelia, R., & Regan, P. (2019).

 Getting at equality: Research methods informed by the lessons of intersectionality. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919846753

- Banks, K. H., & Stephens, J. (2018). Reframing internalized racial oppression and charting a way forward. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, *12*(1), 91–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12041
- Beauregard, K. S., & Dunning, D. (2001). Defining self-worth: Trait self-esteem moderates the use of self-serving trait definitions in social judgment. *Motivation and Emotion*, 25(2), 135–161. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010665926045
- Bentley, S. V., Peters, K., Haslam, S. A., & Greenaway, K. H. (2019). Construction at work: Multiple identities scaffold professional identity development in academia. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10(628). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00628
- Berdahl, J. L., & Min, J.-A. (2012). Prescriptive stereotypes and workplace consequences for East Asians in North America. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 18(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027692
- Blascovich, J., & Tomaka, J. (1993). Measures of self-esteem. In J. P. Robinson, P. R. Shaver, & L. S. Wrightsman (Eds.), *Measures of personality and social psychological attitudes* (3rd ed., pp. 115-160). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-590241-0.50008-3
- Brewster, Z. W. & Rusche, S. (2014). The effects of racialized workplace Discourse on race-based service in full-service restaurants. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Research*. *41*(4), 398–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348014538051
- Brown, D. L., & Segrist, D. (2016). African American career aspirations: Examining the relative influence of internalized racism. *Journal of Career Development*, 43(2), 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845315586256

- Bubar, R., Cespedes, K., & Bundy-Fazioli, K. (2016). Intersectionality and social work:

 Omissions of race, class, and sexuality in graduate school education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 52(3), 283-296.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2016.1174636
- Byers, L. G., Bragg, J., & Munoz, R. (2020). Increasing diversity and oppression scale scores through relational cultural theory. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 40(1), 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841233.2019.1685625
- Byng, M. D. (2017). Race knowledge: Racialized social legitimacy and second-generation Muslim Americans. *Du Bois Review*, *14*(1), 273-293. https://doi:10.1017/S1742058X17000042
- Byrd, M. Y., Stanley, C. A. (2009). Giving voice: The socio-cultural realities of African American women's leadership experiences. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 11(5), 551–561. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422309351520
- Cano, M. (2020). Diversity and inclusion in social service organizations: Implications for community partnerships and social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 56(1), 105–114. https://doi:10.1080/10437797.2019.1656577
- Carastathis, A. (2016). Intersectionality: Origins, Contestations, Horizons. *University of Nebraska Press*. https://doi:10.2307/j.ctt1fzhfz8
- Carter, M. J., & Bruene, S. (2019). Examining the relationship between self-perceptions of person, role, and social identity change and self-concept clarity. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, 38(4), 425–451.

https://doi:10.1177/0276236618792267

Cech, E. A., & Rothwell, W. R. (2020). LGBT workplace inequality in the federal workforce: Intersectional processes, organizational contexts, and turnover considerations. ILR Review, 73(1), 25–60.

https://doi:10.1177/0019793919843508

- Chan, Kimmy Wa, Chi Kin (Bennett) Yim, and Simon S.K. Lam. (2010). Is customer participation in value creation a double-edged sword? Evidence from professional financial services across cultures. *Journal of Marketing*, 74(3): 48-64. http://doi:10.1509/jmkg.74.3.48.
- Cornileus, T. H. (2013). "I'm a Black man and I'm doing this job very well": How African American professional men negotiate the impact of racism on their career development. *Journal of African American Studies*, *17*(4), 444–460. http://doi:10.1007/s12111-012-9225-2
- Crawford, J. T. (2021). Imposter syndrome for women in male dominated careers.

 *Hastings Women's Law Journal, 32(2), 26.

 https://repository.uclawsf.edu/hwlj/vol32/iss2/3
- Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A Black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory, and antiracist politics.

 University of Chicago Legal Forum, 14, 139–167.

 https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol1989/iss1/8
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry & research Design: Choosing among five approaches (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Cross, W. E., Jr., Seaton, E., Yip, T., Lee, R. M., Rivas, D., Gee, G. C., Roth, W., & Ngo,

- B. (2017). Identity work: Enactment of racial-ethnic identity in everyday life. *Identity: An International Journal of Theory and Research*, *17*(1), 1–12. https://doi:10.1080/15283488.2016.1268535
- Culver, L. P. (2018). Conscious identity performance. *San Diego Law Review*, *55*(3), 577. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3036768
- Daddow, A. (2017). Diverse students and literacy in social work education: Pedagogies for a new tertiary landscape. *Social Work Education*, *36*(3), 323-338. https://doi:10.1080/02615479.2016.1221394
- Davis, M., Stadulis, R., & Neal-Barnett, A. (2018). Assessing the effects of the acting white accusation among Black girls: Social anxiety and bullying victimization.

 Journal of the National Medical Association, 110(1), 23-28.

 https://doi:10.1016/j.jnma.2017.06.016
- Davis, S. M. (2018). Taking back the power: An analysis of Black women's communicative resistance. *Review of Communication*, *18*(4), 301. https://doi:10.1080/15358593.2018.1461234
- Davis, P. E. (2020). Painful legacy of historical African American culture. *Journal of Black Studies*, *51*(2), 128–146. https://doi:10.1177/0021934719896073
- Davis, C., & Francois, S. (2021). "All skinfolk ain't kinfolk": Engaging with racial identity and racism-based trauma in social work curricula. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, 41(3), 209–229. http://doi:10.1080/08841233.2021.1931637
- Dickens, D. D., & Chavez, E. L. (2018). Navigating the workplace: The costs and benefits of shifting identities at work among early career U.S. Black women. *Sex*

- Roles, 78(11-12), 760–774. https://doi:10.1007/s11199-017-0844-x
- Dickens, D. D., Womack, V. Y., & Dimes, T. (2019). Managing hypervisibility: An exploration of theory and research on identity shifting strategies in the workplace among Black women. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 113, 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.008
- Dodd, S. J., & Tolman, D. (2017). Reviving a positive discourse on sexuality within social work. *Social Work*. 62(3). 227-234. http://doi:10.1093/sw/swx016.
- Dreiskämper, D., Tietjens, M., & Schott, N. (2022). The physical self-concept across childhood: Measurement development and meaning for physical activity.

 *Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 61, 102187.

 http://doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2022.102187
- Edmonds-Cady, C., & Wingfield, T. T. (2017). Social workers: Agents of change or agents of oppression. *Social Work Education*, *36*(4), 430–442. https://doi:10.1080/02615479.2017.1291802
- Emerson, K. T. U., & Murphy, M. C. (2014). Identity threat at work: How social identity threat and situational cues contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in the workplace. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(4), 508–520. https://doi:10.1037/a0035403
- Erez, E., Schilpzand, P., Leavitt, k., Woolum, A. H., & Judge, T. A. (2015). Inherently relational: Interactions between peers' and individuals' personalities impact reward giving and appraisal of individual performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *58*(6), 1761–1784. https://doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0214

- Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity: Youth and crisis. W.W. Norton.
- Erikson, E. H. (1985). The life cycle completed. W.W. Norton.
- Fertik, H., & Hanses, M. (2019). Above the veil: Revisiting the classicism of W. E. B. Du Bois. *International Journal of the Classical Tradition*, 26(1), 1–9. https://doi:10.1007/s12138-018-0475-9
- Fordham, S., & Ogbu, J. (1986). Black students' success: Coping with the "burden of 'acting white'". *The Urban Review*, 18, 176–206.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01112192
- Gaertner, S.L., Rust, M.C., Dovidio, J.F., Bachman, B.A. and Anastasio, P.A. (1996) The contact hypothesis: The role of a common ingroup identity on reducing intergroup bias among minority group members. *In: Nye, J. and Brower, A., Eds., What's Social about Social Cognition? Research on Socially Shared Cognition in Small Groups*, Sage, 230-260. https://doi:10.4135/9781483327648.n10
- Garcia, J. G., DiNardo, J., Nuñez, M. I. L., Emmanuel, D., & Chan, C. D. (2020). The integrated acculturation model: Expanding acculturation to cultural identities in addition to race and ethnicity. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling & Development*, 48(4), 271–287. https://doi://10.1002/jmcd.12199
- Gee, J. P., & Handford, M. (Eds.). (2012). The routledge handbook of discourse analysis.

 Taylor & Francis.
- Gee, J.P. (2015). Discourse, small-, Big-D. International encyclopedia of Language and Social Interaction. Wiley-Blackwell. 1-5.

https://doi:10.1002/9781118611463.wbielsi016

- Gee, J. P. (2017). Identity and Diversity in Today's World. *Multicultural Education*Review, 9(2), 83–92. https://doi:10.1080/2005615X.2017.1312216
- Gerlach, P., & Eriksson, K. (2021). Measuring Cultural Dimensions: External Validity and Internal Consistency of Hofstede's VSM 2013 Scales. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 662604. https://doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.662604
- Gist-Mackey, A. N. (2017). Class and organizing. International Encyclopedia of Organizational Communication. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Gooding-Williams, R. (2009). In the shadow of Du Bois: Afro-modern political thought in America. Harvard University Press. https://doi:10.2307/j.ctvjhzqcr
- Grier, R. T., & Ajayi, A. A. (2019). Incorporating humanistic values and techniques in a culturally responsive therapeutic intervention for African American college students. *Journal of Humanistic Counseling*, 58(1), 17–33.

 https://doi:10.1002/johc.12087
- Hackett, G.& Byars, A.M. (1996) Social cognitive theory and the career development of African American women. *Career Development Quarterly*, 44(4), pp. 322–340. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-0045.1996.tb00449.x
- Hall, J. C., Everett, J. E., & Hamilton-Mason, J. (2012). Black women talk about workplace stress and how they cope. *Journal of Black Studies*, 43(2), 207–226. https://doi:10.1177/0021934711413272
- Halvorsen, K. & Srikant, S. (2015). Team decision-making in workplace meetings: The interplay of activity roles and discourse roles. *Journal or Pragmatics*. 76(1). pp 1-14. https://doi:10.1016/j.pragma.2014.11.002

- Hanlon, C., & Taylor, T. (2022). Workplace experiences of women with disability in sport organizations. Frontiers in Sports and Active Living, 4.792703.
 https://doi:10.3389/fspor.2022.792703
- Harris, J. C., & Patton, L. D. (2017). The challenges and triumphs in addressing students' intersectional identities for Black culture centers. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 10(4), 334–349. https://doi:10.1037/dhe0000047
- Harris, J., & Kruger, A. C. (2021). Exploring the influence of racial-ethnic and gender identity on the prosocial behaviors of African American adolescent males. *Youth & Society*, 53(3), 512–535. https://doi:10.3390/educsci9020143
 https://doi:10.3390/educsci9020143
- Hazra, A., & Gogtay, N. (2016). Biostatistics series module 6: Correlation and linear regression. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, *61*(6), 593–601. https://doi:10.4103/0019-5154.193662
- Hofstede, G., & Bond, M. H. (1988). The Confucius connection: From cultural roots to economic growth. Organizational Dynamics, 16(4), 5-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(88)90009-5
- Hofstede, G., Hofstede, G. J., & Minkov, M. (2010). Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind (3rd. ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Holloway, K., & Varner, F. (2021). Parenting despite discrimination: Does racial identity matter?. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 27(4), 5-21. https://doi:10.1037/cdp0000452

- Hoggard, L. S., Jones, S. C. T., & Sellers, R. M. (2016). Racial cues and racial identity. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 43(4), 409–432.

 https://doi:10.1177/0095798416651033
- Hoggard, L. S., Byrd, C. M., & Sellers, R. M. (2015). The lagged effects of racial discrimination on depressive symptomology and interactions with racial identity.
 Journal of Counseling Psychology, 62(2), 216–225.
 https://doi:10.1037/cou00000069
- Hoggard, L. S., Powell, W., Upton, R., Seaton, E., & Neblett, E. W., Jr. (2019). Racial discrimination, personal growth initiative, and African American men's depressive symptomatology: A moderated mediation model. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 25(4), 472–482.
 https://doi:10.1037/cdp0000264.
- Hsu, B., Hackett, C., & Hinkson, L. (2014). The importance of race and religion in social service providers. *Social Science Quarterly*, 95(2), 393–410.
 https://doi:10.1111/ssqu.12050
- Illievski, F., Hovy, E., Vossen, P., Schlobach, S., & Xie, Q. (2020). The role of knowledge in determining identity of long-tail entities. *Journal of Web Semantics*, 61–62. https://doi:10.1016/j.websem.2020.100565
- Jackson, B.A (2018). Cultivating a professional pose: Collegiate Black men and professional self-presentations. *Du Bois Review*, *15*(2). pp 517-532. https://doi:10.1017/S1742058X18000231
- Johnson, V. E., & Carter, R. T. (2020). Black cultural strengths and psychosocial well-

- being: An empirical analysis with Black American adults. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 46(1), 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798419889752
- Jones, S. C. T., & Neblett, E. W. (2017). Future directions in research on racism-related stress and racial-ethnic protective factors for Black youth. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 46(5), 754–766.

 https://doi:10.1080/15374416.2016.1146991
- Keromnes, G., Chokron, S., Celume, M. P., Berthoz, A., Botbol, M., Canitano, R., & Tordjman, S. (2019). Exploring self-consciousness from self-and other-image recognition in the mirror: Concepts and evaluation. *Frontiers in psychology*, 10, 719. http://doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00719
- Khatri, N. (2009). Consequences of power distance orientation in organizations. *Vision:*The Journal of Business Perspective, 13(1), 1–9.

 https://doi:10.1177/097226290901300101
- Koch, L. M., Gross, A. M., & Kolts, R. (2001). Attitudes toward Black English and code switching. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 27(1), 29–42. http://doi:10.1177/0095798401027001002
- Kroger, J., Martinussen, M., & Marcia, J. E. (2010). Identity status change during adolescence and young adulthood: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Adolescence*, 33(5), 683–698. https://doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.11.002
- Lazaraton, A. (2002). Quantitative and qualitative approaches to discourse analysis.

 **Annual Review of Applied Linguistics, 22, 32 51.

 http://doi:10.1017/S0267190502000028.

- Leavitt, K., & Sluss, D. M. (2015). Lying for who we are: an identity-based model of workplace dishonesty. *Academy of Management Review*, 40(4), 587–610. http://doi:10.5465/amr.2013.0167
- Lee, C., Pillutla, M., & Law, K. S. (2000). Power-distance, gender and organizational justice. *Journal of Management*, 26(4), 685–704.

 https://doi:10.1177/014920630002600405
- Lee, E., Tsang, A. K. T., Bogo, M., Johnstone, M., Herschman, J., & Ryan, M. (2019).

 Honoring the voice of the client in clinical social work practice: Negotiating with epistemic injustice. *Social Work*, 64(1), 29–40. https://doi:10.1093/sw/swy050
- Lento, M. (2021). Rethinking the concept of double consciousness in Du Bois' the souls of Black folks (1903). *Journal of Literary Studies*, *37*(3), 52-65. http://doi:10.1080/02564718.2021.1959761
- Liechty, J. (2018) Exploring use of self: Moving beyond definitional challenges. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *54*(1), 148-162. http://doi:10.1080/10437797.2017.1314836
- Love, L.R. (2018). Group cohesion: The effect of diversity. *Global Journal of Management and Marketing*, 2(1), 77-86.

 https://doi.org/10.47177/gjmm.02.01.2018.077
- Mahon, B. Z., & Kemmerer, D. (2020). Interactions between language, thought, and perception: Cognitive and neural perspectives. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, *37*(5–6), 235–240. https://doi:10.1080/02643294.2020.1829578
- Marcia, J. E. (1966). Development and validation of ego-identity status. Journal of

- Personality and Social Psychology, 3, 551–558. https://doi:10.1037/h0023281
- Marcia, J. E. (1980). Identity in adolescence. In J. Adelson (Ed.), Handbook of adolescent psychology, 159 –187. Wiley.
- Marian, V., & Neisser, U. (2000). Language-dependent recall of autobiographical memories. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *129*(3), 361–368. https://doi:10.1037//0096-3445.129.3.361
- Markus, H. R., & Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychological Review*, *98*(2), 224-253. http://doi:10.1037/0033-295X.98.2.224
- Marshall S. (1995). Ethnic socialization of African American children: Implications for parenting, identity development, and academic achievement. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 24, 377–396. http://doi:10.1007/BF01537187
- McMillan, M. (2004). The person-centered approach to therapeutic change. SAGE Publications Ltd, 1-10. https://doi:10.4135/9781446216712
- Meghji, A. (2017). Positionings of the Black middle-classes: understanding identity construction beyond strategic assimilation. *Ethnic & Racial Studies*, 40(6), 1007–1025. https://doi:10.1080/01419870.2016.1201585
- Mouzon, D. M., & McLean, J. S. (2017). Internalized racism and mental health among African Americans, us-born Caribbean Blacks, and foreign-born Caribbean Blacks. *Ethnicity & Health*, 22(1), 36–48.

 https://doi:10.1080/13557858.2016.1196652
- Mulder M. (1977). The daily power game. Martinus Nijhoff Social Sciences Division.

- Myers-Scotton, C. (2020). Code-switching as indexical of social negotiations. http://doi:10.4324/9781003060406-13.
- Nasim, A., Roberts, A., Harrell, J. P., & Young, H. (2005). Non-cognitive predictors of academic achievement for African Americans across cultural contexts. The Journal of Negro Education, 344-358. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40026734
- National Association of Social Workers. (2015). Standards and indicators for cultural competence in social work practice. Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=PonPTDEBrn4%3D&p
 https://www.socialworkers.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=PonPTDEBrn4%3D&p
- Neblett, Enrique & Shelton, J. & Sellers, Robert. (2004). The role of racial identity in managing daily racial hassles. 77-90. http://doi:10.1037/10812-005.
- Neblett, E. W., White, R. L., Ford, K. R., Philip, C. L., Nguyên, H. X., & Sellers, R. M. (2008). Patterns of racial socialization and psychological adjustment: Can parental communications about race reduce the impact of racial discrimination?. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 18(3), 477–515. https://doi:10.1111/j.1532-7795.2008.00568.x
- Neal-Barnett, A., Stadulis, R., Singer, N., Murray, M., & Demmings, J. (2010). Assessing the effects of experiencing the acting white accusation. *Urban Review*, 42(2), 102–122. https://doi:10.1007/s11256-009-0130-5
- Nentwich, J. C., & Morison, T. 2018. Performing the self: Performativity and discursive psychology. *In: APA handbook of the psychology of women: History, theory, and battlegrounds*, *1*, 209-228. https://doi-:10.1037/0000059-011

- Neville, H. A., & Cross, W. E., Jr. (2017). Racial awakening: Epiphanies and encounters in Black racial identity. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 23(1), 102–108. https://doi:10.1037/cdp0000105
- Oribhabor, C. B., & Anyanwu, C. A. (2019). Research sampling and sample size determination: A practical application. *Journal of Educational Research*, 2(1), 47-57.
- Piaget, J. (1929). The child's conception of the world. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Prasongsukarn, K. (2009). Validating the cultural value scale (CVScale): a case study of Thailand. ABAC Journal, 29 (2), 1-13.
- Rao, S., Woo, B., Maglalang, D. D., Bartholomew, M., Cano, M., Harris, A., & Tucker,
 T. B. (2021). Race and ethnicity in the social work grand challenges. *Social Work*,
 66(1), 9-17. http://doi:10.1093/sw/swaa053
- Ravitch, S., & Carl, N. M. (2016). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological. SAGE Publications.
- Richard, O. C., Boncoeur, O. D., Chen, H., & Ford, D. L. (2020). Supervisor abuse effects on subordinate turnover intentions and subsequent interpersonal aggression: The role of power-distance orientation and perceived human resource support climate. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *164*(3), 549–563.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4019-7
- Renfrow, Daniel & Howard, Judith. (2013). Social Psychology of Gender and Race. http://doi:10.1007/978-94-007-6772-0_17
- Roberts, L. M., Cha, S. E., & Kim, S. S. (2014). Strategies for managing impressions of

- racial identity in the workplace. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(4), 529–540. https://doi:10.1037/a0037238
- Robinson, D. T. (2014). The role of cultural meanings and situated interaction in shaping emotion. *Emotion Review*, 6(3), 189–195. https://doi:10.1177/1754073914522866
- Rogers, C. R. (1959). A theory of therapy, personality, and interpersonal relationships:

 As developed in the client-centered framework. In S. Koch (Ed.), *Psychology: A study of a science*, *3*,184-256. McGraw Hill.
- Rosenberg, Morris. 1965. Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton University

 Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt183pjjh
- Rosenberg, M. (1986). Conceiving the self. Basic Books.
- Rosenthal, D. A., Gurney, R. M., Moore, S. M., Darling. Fisher, C., Kline. Leidy, N., McKeering, H., & Pakenham, K. I. (2000). Modified Erikson Psychological Stage Inventory. *Sex Roles*, *43*, 459–480.
- Rosette, A. S., Ponce de Leon, R., Koval, C. Z., & Harrison, D. A. (2018).

 Intersectionality: Connecting experiences of gender with race at work. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 38, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2018.12.002
- Sacristan, D., & Lalane, M. (2022). Field instruction: A relational model to promote a positive professional identity for social work students. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*. 42. 303-315. https://doi:10.1080/08841233.2022.2103228.
- Salter, N. P., Sawyer, K., & Gebhardt, S. T. (2021). How does intersectionality impact work attitudes? The effect of layered group memberships in a field sample.

 **Journal of Business and Psychology, 36(6), 1035–1052.

https://doi:10.1007/s10869-020-09718-z

- Santiago, R., Nwokoma, N., & Crentsil, J. (2021). Investigating the implications of codeswitching and assimilating at work for African American professionals. *Journal of Business Diversity*, 21(4), 72–81. https://doi:10.33423/jbd.v21i4.4750
- Sebastian, C., Heyes, S., & Blakemore, S. (2008). Development of the self-concept during adolescent. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 12, 441-446. http://doi:10.1016/j.tics.2008.07.008.
- Schmader, T., Martens, J., & Lawrence, J. S. (2017). Show your pride? The surprising effect of race on how people perceive a pride display. Self & Identity, *16*(3), 313–334. https://doi:10.1080/15298868.2016.1270852
- Seaton, E. K., Yip, T., Morgan-Lopez, A., & Sellers, R. M. (2012). Racial discrimination and racial socialization as predictors of African American adolescents' racial identity development using latent transition analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(2), 448–458. https://doi:10.1037/a0025328
- Sellers, R.M., Rowley, S.A.J., Chavous, T.M., Shelton, J. N., & Smith, M.A. (1997a).
 Multidimensional inventory of Black identity: A preliminary investigation of reliability and construct validity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 805-815. http://doi:10.1037/0022-3514.73.4.805.
- Sellers, R. M., Rowley, S. A. J., Chavous, T. M., Shelton, J. N., & Smith, M. A. (1997b).

 Multidimensional inventory of Black identity. *PsycTESTS*.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/t03182-000
- Sellers, R. M., Smith, M. A., Shelton, J. N., Rowley, S. A. J., & Chavous, T. M. (1998).

- Multidimensional model of racial identity: A reconceptualization of African American racial identity. *Personality & Social Psychology Review*, 2(1), 18. http://doi:10.1207/s15327957pspr0201_2
- Sellers, R., & Shelton, J. (2003). The role of racial identity in perceived racial discrimination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84. 1079-92. http://doi:10.1037/0022-3514.84.5.1079.
- Sellers, R. M., Rowley, S. A. J., Chavous, T. M., Shelton, J. N., Smith, M. A., McClain,
 S., Beasley, S. T., Jones, B., Awosogba, O., Jackson, S., & Cokley, K. (2016).
 Multidimensional inventory of Black identity. *Journal of Multicultural*Counseling and Development, 44, 101–117.
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 5: Sampling strategies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61(5), 505–509. https://doi:10.4103/0019-5154.190118
- Shelton, J. & Sellers, Robert. (2000). situational stability and variability in African American racial identity. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 26, 27-50. https://doi:10.1177/0095798400026001002.
- Simon, J. D., Boyd, R., & Subica, A. M. (2022). refocusing intersectionality in social work education: Creating a brave space to discuss oppression and privilege.

 Journal of Social Work Education, 58(1), 34–45.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2021.1883492
- Sisco, S. (2020). Race-conscious career development: Exploring self-preservation and coping strategies of Black professionals in corporate America. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 22(4), 419–436.

https://doi:10.1177/1523422320948885

- Sluss, D. M., & Ashforth, B. E. (2007). Relational identity and identification: Defining ourselves through work relationships. *Academy of Management Review*, 32(1), 9– 32. https://doi:10.5465/AMR.2007.23463672
- Soares, A. M., Farhangmehr, M., & Shoham, A. (2007). Hofstede's dimensions of culture in international marketing studies. *Journal of Business Research*, 60(3), 277-284. http://doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.10.018
- Sosik, J. J., Chun, J. U., & Zhu, W. (2014). Hang on to your ego: The moderating role of leader narcissism on relationships between leader charisma and follower psychological empowerment and moral identity. *Journal of business ethics*, *120*, 65-80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1651-0
- Stanford, N., Carlock, S., & Fanli, J. (2021). The role of community in Black identity development and occupational choice. Societies, *11*(3), 111. https://doi:10.3390/soc11030111
- Stanley, M. L., Taylor, M. K., & Marsh, E. J. (2021). Cultural identity changes the accessibility of knowledge. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 10(1), 44–54. https://doi:10.1016/j.jarmac.2020.07.008
- Tajfel, H. and Turner, J.C. (1986) The social identity theory of intergroup behavior. In: Worchel, S. and Austin, W.G., Eds., *Psychology of Intergroup Relation*, 7-24. http://doi:10.1111/j.2044-8309.1986.tb00732.x
- Taylor, T., Buck, A., Bloch, K. R., & Turgeon, B. (2019). Gender composition and share of management: Tipping points in US workplaces, 1980–2005. *Social Science*

- Journal, 56(1), 48–59. https://doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2018.07.005
- Taylor, R., Chatters, L., Cross, C. J., & Mouzon, D. (2022). Fictive kin networks among African Americans, Black Caribbeans, and Non-Latino Whites. *Journal of Family Issues*, 43(1), 20–46. https://doi:10.1177/0192513X21993188
- Thomas, A. J. (2000). Impact of racial identity on African American child-rearing beliefs.

 Journal of Black Psychology, 26(3), 317-329.

 http://doi:10.1177/0095798400026003004
- Ufkes, E. G., Calcagno, J., Glasford, D. E., & Dovidio, J. F. (2016). Understanding how common ingroup identity undermines collective action among disadvantaged-group members. *Journal of experimental social psychology*, 63, 26-35. https://doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2015.11.006
- Vandiver, B. J., Worrell, F. C., & Delgado-Romero, E. A. (2009). A psychometric examination of multidimensional inventory of Black identity (MIBI) scores.

 Assessment, *16*(4), 337–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191109341958
- Varghese, R. (2016). Teaching to transform? Addressing race and racism in the teaching of clinical social work practice. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 52, 134–147. https://doi:10.1080/10437797.2016.1174646
- Villotti, P., Stinlhamber, F., & Desmette, D. (2019). The influence of multiculturalism and assimilation on work-related outcomes: Differences between ethnic minority and majority groups of workers. *Psychology Belgium*. *59*(1). 246-268. https://doi.org/10.5334/pb.472
- Walton, G. M., Murphy, M. C., & Ryan, A. M. (2015). Stereotype Threat in

- Organizations: Implications for Equity and Performance. Annual review of organizational psychology and organizational behavior, VOL 2, 2, 523–550. https://doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111322
- Wandert, T., Ochsmann, R., Brug, P., Chybicka, A., Lacassagne, M.-F., & Verkuyten, M. (2009). Black German Identities: Validating the multidimensional inventory of Black identity. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 35(4), 456–484.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798408329949
- Watson, J. G., & Barone, S. (1976). The self-concept, personal values, and motivational orientations of black and white managers. *Academy of Management*, 19(1), 36–48. https://doi:10.2307/255446
- White-Johnson, R. L., Ford, K. R., & Sellers, R. M. (2010). Parental racial socialization profiles: Association with demographic factors, racial discrimination, childhood socialization, and racial identity. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority*Psychology, 16, 237-47. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016111
- White, K., Stackhouse, M., & Argo, J. J. (2018). When social identity threat leads to the selection of identity-reinforcing options: The role of public self-awareness.

 Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 144, 60-73.

 https://doi:10.1016/j.obhdp.2017.09.007
- Willis, H. A., & Neblett, E. W. (2020). Racial identity and changes in psychological distress using the multidimensional model of racial identity. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 26(4), 509–519.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000314

- Willmott, T., & Rundle-Thiele, S. (2021). Are we speaking the same language? Call for action to improve theory application and reporting in behaviour change research.

 BMC Public Health, 21(1), 1-8. http://doi:10.1186/s12889-021-10541-1
- Wilson, A., & Leaper, C. (2016). Bridging multidimensional models of ethnic-racial and gender identity among ethnically diverse emerging adults. *Journal of Youth & Adolescence*, 45(8), 1614–1637. https://doi:10.1007/s10964-015-0323-z
- Whitaker, T. R. (2019). Banging on a locked door: The persistent role of racial discrimination in the workplace. *Social Work in Public Health*, *34*(1), 22–27. https://doi:10.1080/19371918.2019.1572564
- Worrell, F. C., Mendoza-Denton, R., Vandiver, B. J., Fhagen, P. E., & Cross, W. E. (2020). Incorporating a race salience subscale into the cross racial identity scale (cris). *Journal of Black Psychology*, 46(8), 638–658. https://doi:10.1177/0095798420967598
- Yazdani, S., & Ross, S. (2019). Carl Rogers' Notion of" Self-actualization" in Joyce's A

 Portrait of the Artist as a Young Man. 3L: Southeast Asian Journal of English

 Language Studies, 25(2). http://doi:10.17576/3L-2019-2502-05
- Ying, Y. (2011). The Effect of Educational Disequilibrium in Field Work on Graduate

 Social Work Students' Self-Concept and Mental Health. Journal of Teaching in

 Social Work, 31, 278 294. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841233.2011.580250
- Yip, Tiffany & Seaton, Eleanor & Sellers, Robert. (2006). African American racial identity across the lifespan: identity status, identity content, and depressive symptoms. *Child development*, 77. 1504-1517. https://doi:10.1111/j.1467-

8624.2006.00950.x.

Yoo, B., Donthu, N., & Lenartowicz, T. (2011). Measuring Hofstede's five dimensions of cultural values at the individual level: Development and validation of CVScale.

**Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 23, 193-210.

http://doi:10.1080/08961530.2011.578059.